


Corporate Information 2

Chairman’s Statement 3

Management Discussion and Analysis 5

Directors’ Profile 9

Directors’ Report 12

Corporate Governance Report 22

Independent Auditor’s Report 29

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 31

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 32

Statement of Financial Position 33

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 34

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 35

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 37

Five-Year Financial Summary 94

Contents



Corporate Information 

02

Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited

線條長度請跟RunHead拉長或縮短
行
Ta
bl
e時
，
請
收
Le
ad
in
g做
12
pt

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Liang Jun 

Mr. Fung Ka Keung, David 

Ms. Yu Sau Lai

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yu Baodong (Chairman) 

Ms. Sun Wei 

Mr. Tse On Kin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen 

Mr. Zhang Xi 

Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Ho Pui Man

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman) 

Mr. Zhang Xi 

Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhang Xi (Chairman) 

Mr. Liang Jun 

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Yu Baodong (Chairman) 

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen 

Mr. Zhang Xi

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Wing Hang Bank Ltd.

AUDITOR
BDO Limited

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER 
OFFICE
Tricor Secretaries Limited 

Level 22 

Hopewell Centre 

183 Queen’s Road East 

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Unit 1708, Level 17 

International Commerce Centre 

1 Austin Road West 

Kowloon 

Hong Kong

HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE 
STOCK CODE
0351

WEBSITE
www.aelg.com.hk



 Chairman’s Statement

03

Annual Report 2013

線條長度請跟RunHead拉長或縮短
行
Table時

，
請
收
Leading做

12pt

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present to you the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 on behalf of 

the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company.

2013 was a difficult and challenging year for the Company in its business operations and development as a whole. The 
Company has been taking proactive approach in managing its business activities by continuously adjusting its business 
and operation strategies. The Company will continue to adopt a flexible yet prudent methodology in the management 
and development of its existing and future business activities.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the turnover of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) was 
approximately HK$19,084,000 (2012: HK$Nil). The loss for the year ended 31 December 2013 amounted to approximately 
HK$128,846,000 (2012: loss of approximately HK$54,762,000). The increase in loss for the year under review was mainly 
attributable to, among other factors, the record of finance costs of approximately HK$55,196,000 whilst finance costs in 
the previous years were fully capitalised and included in construction in progress. The basic and diluted loss per share 
for the year was HK0.78 cents (2012: loss per share HK0.37 cents).

During the year under review, the Group was principally engaged in (i) railway construction and operations, and (ii) 
shipping and logistics.

RAILWAY CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATIONS
The Group’s investment in railway construction and operations started in July 2009. As disclosed in the Company’s 
previous financial reports, the construction progress had been severely delayed due to unforeseen circumstances. 
Although continuous efforts were made with a view to expediting the construction process, the target completion date 
was not able to be achieved. Based on the latest assessment of the construction progress, it was estimated that the 
completion of the construction would be further delayed to the end of 2014.

The Company has been closely monitoring and reviewing the overall railway construction progress with a view to 
assessing the possible impacts of such delay on the Company’s operations and the Group’s overall financial position. 
The prolong delay in the completion of Zunxiao Railway and the urgent need for additional funding had put pressure 
on the Group’s limited financial resources. The Company has been investigating various options to tackle the problems 
in order to minimize the potential adverse impacts on the Group’s cashflow and financial positions.

SHIPPING AND LOGISTICS
The Group has been conducting its shipping business through the joint venture company which is engaged in shipping 
business (the “JV Company” and together with its subsidiaries the “JV Group”). During the year under review, the shipping 
market has not experienced the much expected recovery and remained in a poor state throughout most of the year. 
However, since the start of the fourth quarter of 2013, the shipping market showed signs of revival. In anticipation of 
the possible shipping market turnaround and with a view to restructuring the Group’s current business and investment 
portfolios as well as broadening and expanding the scope of its shipping business operation, the Group started its own 
vessel chartering business in September 2013. Apart from chartering the vessel MV Jin Yuan with carrying capacity of 
approximately 55,000 deadweight tonnage (“DWT”) in September 2013, the Company subsequently acquired MV 
Tremonia, a bulk carrier with carrying capacity of approximately 28,000 DWT in November 2013. 

Since the acquisition of the two Handysize vessels on 30 April 2010 and 10 August 2010, respectively, the JV Group 
has not made further acquisition of the remaining two vessels as planned. The parties to the JV Group are in negotiation 
to extend the deadline for the acquisition of the other two vessels and further announcement will be made by the 
Company as and when appropriate.
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PROSPECTS
The Group has conducted reviews of its current business operations and financial position with a view to formulating 
business plans and strategies for future business developments. The commencement of its vessel chartering business 
in September 2013 and the acquisition of MV Tremonia set in motion of the Group’s plan to further develop and expand 
its shipping business. With the shipping market having shown signs of improvement, it is expected that the Company’s 
shipping business operation will enjoy a better shipping market condition for the coming years and start generating 
contributions to the Group.

The Board will actively seek other investment opportunities and to explore the feasibility of expanding into other business 
sectors to diversify the Group’s business portfolio and to enhance the Group’s profitability and its shareholders’ value.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our staff members for their dedication, effort and valuable contributions 

during the year. I would also like to take this opportunity to express my wholehearted gratitude to all the shareholders 

of the Company, business associates and partners for their trust and support.

Yu Baodong 

Chairman and 

Non-Executive Director

Hong Kong 

21 March 2014
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The Group is mainly financed by various borrowings, shareholders’ equity and internally generated cash flows.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had bank and cash balances of approximately HK$13 million (2012: approximately 

HK$113 million).

As at 31 December 2013, the Company had secured bank loans of approximately HK$127 million (2012: approximately 

HK$62 million) repayable within one year, approximately HK$191 million (2012: approximately HK$123 million) repayable 

within one to two years, approximately HK$763 million (2012: approximately HK$678 million) repayable within two to five 

years and approximately HK$169 million (2012: approximately HK$410 million) repayable after five years. The effective 

interest rate for the year was 7.86% (2012: 7.86% to 8.46%) per annum.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2013, which is calculated as net debt divided by total capital, was 

approximately 65% (2012: approximately 59%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 31 December 2013, the share capital of the Company was HK$134,100,271 divided into 13,410,027,100 shares 

of HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) (2012: 12,857,027,100 Shares).

During the year under review, 553,000,000 Shares were allotted and issued, details of which are set out in the section 

headed “Fund Raising Activities” below.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES
On 28 August 2013, the Company entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with VC Brokerage Limited 
(the “Placing Agent”) to procure not less than six Placee(s) who are independent third parties to subscribe up to 
1,285,000,000 Shares at a price of HK$0.072 per Placing Share (the “Placing”) with unlisted warrants (the “Warrant”) of 
the Company attached on the basis of one Warrant for each Placing Share issued.

On 5 September 2013, the Company entered into a supplemental agreement with the Placing Agent to amend and 
supplement certain terms of the Placing Agreement including, among other things, the Placee(s) shall have the discretion 
to subscribe for both the Placing Shares and the Warrants or for either the Placing Shares or the Warrants only and to 
shorten the long stop period from three months after the date of the Placing Agreement to two months after the date of 
the Placing Agreement.

On 25 October 2013, the Company entered into a second supplemental agreement with the Placing Agent to amend 
and supplement the term relating to the long stop period to two months and fourteen days after the date of the Placing 
Agreement.

On 1 November 2013, a total of 553,000,000 Shares were successfully placed to not fewer than six Placees at the price 

of HK$0.072 per Share and no Warrant were placed. 553,000,000 new Shares were allotted and issued under the general 

mandate granted to the Directors by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 

2013. Details of the Placing were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 28 August 2013, 5 September 2013, 

25 October 2013 and 1 November 2013, respectively. The gross proceeds and net proceeds from the Placing were 

approximately HK$39.82 million and approximately HK$38.50 million respectively, which were used to finance the 
acquisition of a vessel as disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 30 October 2013, 4 November 2013 and 

20 November 2013, respectively.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
During the year under review, the Group was principally engaged in (i) railway construction and operations, and (ii) 

shipping and logistics.

Railway Construction and Operations
The Group’s investment in railway construction and operations started in July 2009 when the Group acquired 100% 

equity interest in Gofar Holdings Limited (“Gofar”) which indirectly holds a 62.5% equity interest in each of 承德遵小鐵
路有限公司 (Chengde Zunxiao Railway Limited*) (“Zunxiao Company”) and 承德寬平鐵路有限公司 (Chengde Kuanping 

Railway Limited*) (“Kuanping Company”), and a 51% equity interest in 唐山唐承鐵路運輸有限責任公司 (Tangshan 

Tangcheng Railway Transportation Company Limited*) (“Tangcheng Company”) (collectively called the “Gofar Group”). 

The business scope of the Gofar Group is the construction and operation of a 121.7 kilometers single-track railway (the 

“Zunxiao Railway”) with 12 stations connecting two major municipalities in the Hebei Province, namely Tangshan City 

(唐山市) and Chengde City (承德市), in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The major source of revenue of the Zunxiao Railway is expected to derive from the carriage of natural resources exploited 

in mines in the area. Other sources of revenue of the Zunxiao Railway include charges for cargo loading and/or unloading 

services, charges for storage services of goods and income from the agency services of mineral resources.

The construction of the Zunxiao Railway was originally scheduled to be completed by the end of 2010. Due to the delay 

in obtaining a major facility of RMB1.033 billion from 中國民生銀行股份有限公司 (China Minsheng Banking Corp., Limited)  
and other unforeseen obstacles, such as land resumption and demolition, encountered during the construction stage, 

construction progress was severely hampered. Although continuous efforts were made with a view to expediting the 

construction process, the target completion date of the Zunxiao Railway could not be met and would be further delayed 

to the end of 2014. As such, additional resources are required to cover the additional costs attributable to the delay in 

railway construction.

The Company has been reviewing the progress of the railway construction and assessing the potential adverse impacts 

the delay in construction completion would have on the Group’s overall financial and cashflow positions as well as the 

burden to raise additional resources to finance their daily operating expenses and to cover the additional construction 

cost of the remaining sections of the Zunxiao Railway. The Company has been considering various options such as 

reorganization or dispose part of its investment holdings in the Zunxiao Railway.

Nevertheless, the Group takes an optimistic view of the business prospect of the Zunxiao Railway for the implication of 

its future functions in Hebei province if the construction is completed and ready for operation.

Shipping and Logistics
The Group had also diversified its business into the dry bulk shipping industry by acquiring the entire interest in Ocean 

Jade Investments Limited (“Ocean Jade”) in May 2010. Ocean Jade holds a 50% interest in the JV Company which is 

a jointly controlled entity with Waibert Navigation Company Limited (“Waibert”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Guangdong Province Navigation Holdings Company Limited, one of the key provincial government owned enterprises 

which is principally engaged in ship management, dry bulk carrier chartering and operation. The JV Company is principally 

engaged in the investments in ship assets and provision of coal shipment services.

* for identification purposes only
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Under the shareholders’ agreement dated 1 December 2009 (as amended by a supplemental agreement also dated 1 

December 2009) (collectively, the “JV agreement”) entered into between Ocean Jade, Waibert and the JV Company 

(collectively referred to as the “Parties”), the JV Group is mandated to acquire two Handysize Vessels and two Panamax 

or Supramax Vessels. The two Handysize Vessels of about 35,000 deadweight tonnage (“DWT”) each (the “First Vessel” 

and “Second Vessel”, respectively) were then acquired at the consideration of RMB 175 million and RMB 178.8 million 

on 30 April 2010 and 10 August 2010, respectively, which were subsequently delivered in August 2010 and January 

2011, respectively.

Since the acquisition of the two Handysize Vessels on 30 April 2010 and 10 August 2010, respectively, the JV Group 

has not made further acquisition of the remaining two vessels as planned due to the unfavorable market conditions. The 

latest deadline for the acquisition of the two vessels was extended to 31 December 2013 pursuant to the fifth memorandum 

of mutual understanding dated 28 Jun 2013. The Parties to the JV Group are in negotiation to extend the deadline for 

the acquisition of the other two vessels and further announcement will be made by the Company as and when appropriate.

The JV Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$80.22 million (31 December 2012: approximately HK$78.37 

million) for the period under review, the loss from this business segments was approximately HK$14.24 million 

(31 December 2012: approximately HK$17.17 million).

Apart from the shipping business operated through its investment in the JV Group, the Company started its own vessel 

chartering business and investment in its own bulk vessel. In September 2013, the Company chartered the vessel MV 

Jin Yuan, a bulk vessel with a carrying capacity of approximately 55,000 DWT. MV Jin Yuan currently has a time-charter 

contract of 6 to 8 months which expires between April and June 2014. In November 2013, the Group acquired MV 

Tremonia, a bulk vessel with a carrying capacity of approximate 28,000 DWT at the price of approximately US$8,000,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$62,240,000), details of which were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 

29 October 2013, 4 November 2013 and 20 November 2013, respectively. MV Tremonia has been in operation since 

early December 2013. Currently, MV Tremonia has a time-charter contract which is due to expire between April 2014 

and June 2014. The Group has been actively procuring new contract for MV Tremonia which is expected to be operated 

by way of a one to two year time-charter contract.

During the year under review, the contribution of this segment was the main source of income of the Group.

Details of the business segments of the Group are set out in Notes 7 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Golden Concord Holdings Limited (“GCL”) had provided a guarantee to a financial institution in respect of the bank loan 

facilities, in aggregate, up to RMB983 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,250 million), granted to certain non-wholly 

owned subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC. In return for GCL’s guarantee, the Group provided a counter-indemnity 

to indemnify GCL to the extent of the percentage of equity interest held by the Group in each of the subsidiaries of up 

to approximately RMB573 million (equivalent to approximately HK$729 million) and a share mortgage of its shares in 

China Railway Logistic Holdings Limited (“CRL”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and equity and 

asset pledges of CRL’s subsidiaries in favour of GCL. As at 31 December 2013, the outstanding bank loans amounted 

to approximately RMB983 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,250 million). Therefore, according to the Group’s 

percentage equity interest holdings in the subsidiaries, there was a contingent liability of approximately RMB573 million 

(equivalent to approximately HK$729 million).
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATES
The Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are mainly denominated either in Hong Kong dollar or Renminbi. As the 

exchange rate of the US dollar to Renminbi is relatively stable due to the PRC foreign currency exchange policy and 

the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the US dollar, the Directors consider that the Group’s currency exchange risk is 

within acceptable range. Therefore, no hedging devices or other alternatives have been implemented.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2013, the Group had 137 (2012: 135) full-time employees, 121 of whom were based in the PRC. 

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration and share option expense, of the Group for the year ended 31 December 

2013 were approximately HK$22,682,000. The Group decides the remunerations and compensation payable to its staff 

based on their duties, working experience and the prevailing market practices. Apart from basic remuneration, share 

options may be granted to eligible employees by reference to the performance of the Group and individual employees. 

The Group also participated in an approved Mandatory Provident Fund scheme for its Hong Kong employees and made 

contributions to the various social insurance funds for its PRC employees.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On 14 February 2014, China Railway Logistic Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 

entered into three disposal agreements for the disposal of the Group’s majority equity interests in Zunxiao Company and 

Kuanping Company and the entire equity interest in Tangcheng Company, details of which are set out in the Company’s 

announcement dated 28 February 2014.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Liang Jun (“Mr. Liang”)
Mr. Liang, aged 47, has been an executive director (the “Executive Director”) of the Company since 12 June 2006. He 

is also a member of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the Company. Previously, he was 

the chairman (the “Chairman”) of the Company until he resigned from such position on 26 January 2010. Mr. Liang has 

over 20 years of experience in business development in China. He graduated from Tong Ji University (previously known 

as Tie Dao University of Shanghai) with a bachelor’s degree in telecommunications engineering.

Mr. Fung Ka Keung, David (“Mr. Fung”)
Mr. Fung, aged 50, has been an Executive Director since 26 January 2010. He holds a master’s degree in Business 

Administration from the University of Leicester. Mr. Fung possesses more than 25 years of experience in accounting and 

finance, and is currently the director of finance in Golden Concord Holdings Limited as well as an independent 

non-executive director of Vongroup Limited, a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Main Board”). Mr. Fung is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Yu Sau Lai (“Ms. Yu”)
Ms. Yu, aged 51, has been an Executive Director since 31 March 2009. She has over 25 years of experience in 

administrating different kinds of companies and also has extensive exposure in information technology and business 

management in trading, wholesale and retail businesses.

Ms. Yu is currently also an executive director, the compliance officer, the process agent and the authorized representative 

of Chinese Food and Beverage Group Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange 

(the “GEM Board”). She is also a director of Full Century International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China 

Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited, a company listed on the GEM Board.

Ms. Yu was an executive director of New Environmental Energy Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board 

until 27 May 2011.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yu Baodong (Chairman) (“Mr. Yu”)
Mr. Yu, aged 50, has been a non-executive director (the “Non-Executive Director”) of the Company since 31 March 2009 

and the Chairman since 26 January 2010. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee (the “Nomination 

Committee”) of the Company. He has over 10 years of experience in project investment and corporate management. He 

holds a master’s degree in Economics from the People’s University of China and a doctorate degree in Economics from 

the Wuhan University.

Mr. Yu is also an executive director and the vice president of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited, a company listed on 

the Main Board.



Directors’ Profile 

10

Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited

線條長度請跟RunHead拉長或縮短
行
Ta
bl
e時
，
請
收
Le
ad
in
g做
12
pt

Ms. Sun Wei (“Ms. Sun”)
Ms. Sun, aged 42, has been a Non-Executive Director since 26 January 2010. Ms. Sun holds a doctorate degree in 

Business Administration. She possesses over 15 years of experience in power plant investment and management. Ms. 

Sun is currently an executive director of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board.

Mr. Tse On Kin (“Mr. Tse”)
Mr. Tse On Kin, aged 52, was appointed as the Chairman and an Executive Director on 10 March 2006. He was 

re-designated as a Non-Executive Director and ceased to be the Chairman, both with effect from 1 April 2007. Mr. Tse 

has over 20 years of management experience covering corporate planning, restructure, business development, project 

injection, merger and acquisition. Mr. Tse has a bachelor’s degree in Public Policy and Administration from York University 

in Canada.

Mr. Tse was the chairman and an executive director of Kong Sun Holdings Limited from April 2007 to December 2011 

and Climax International Company Limited from March 2010 to November 2011, all of which are listed on the Main Board. 

Mr. Tse was also an independent non-executive director of Value Convergence Holdings Limited, a company listed on 

the Main Board from January 2010 to January 2012.

Ms. Ho Pui Man, the Company Secretary and the Financial Controller of the Company, is the niece of Mr. Tse.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (“Mr. Chan”)
Mr. Chan, aged 47, has been an independent non-executive director (the “Independent Non-Executive Director“) of the 

Company since 30 September 2004. He is the chairman of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee“) of the Company, 

a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Chan is currently an executive director of Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited and South East Group Limited, 

an independent non-executive director of New Times Energy Corporation Limited, China Gamma Group Limited, Jun 

Yang Solar Power Investments Limited (formerly known as China Gogreen Assets Investment Limited), China Sandi 

Holdings Limited, Media Asia Group Holdings Limited and U-RIGHT International Holdings Limited, all of which are listed 

on the Main or the GEM Board.

Mr. Chan was an executive director of Kong Sun Holdings Limited from February 2007 to November 2009 and from 

December 2011 to September 2013 and an independent non-executive director of The Hong Kong Building and Loan 

Agency Limited from October 2009 to February 2011, all of which are listed on the Main Board.

Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration and a Master of Science degree in Corporate Governance 

and Directorship. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association 

of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 

Wales. Mr. Chan is a practising certified public accountant and has extensive experience in financial management, 

corporate finance and corporate governance.
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Mr. Zhang Xi (“Mr. Zhang”)
Mr. Zhang, aged 44, has been an Independent Non-Executive Director since 10 March 2006. He is the chairman of the 

Remuneration Committee, a member of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. He has over 10 years of experience 

in the financial sector. He is currently a CFA charterholder. Mr. Zhang graduated with a bachelor’s degree in science 

(electrical engineering) from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in July 1991. Mr. Zhang obtained an international master of 

business administration (finance) from York University in Canada in September 1998.

Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor (“Prof. Sit”)
Prof. Sit, aged 66, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 7 June 2010 and is a member of the 

Audit Committee. Prof. Sit has obtained a Ph.D. from the London School of Economics and Political Science, United 

Kingdom. He is a founding director of the Advanced Institute for Contemporary China Studies of Hong Kong Baptist 

University and has also been invited to be the Honorary Professor of a number of renowned universities including Peking 

University, Zhongshan University, Jinan University and Xian Jiaotung University in the People’s Republic of China (the 

“PRC”). He had been a Professor of the Department of Geography of The University of Hong Kong from 1977 to 2007 

and was the Head of Department of Geography and Geology of The University of Hong Kong from 1993 to 1998.

Prof. Sit is currently a member of both the City Planning Commission of Shenzhen Municipal Government of the PRC 

and Sanmin Municipal Government of Fujian Province of the PRC. Prof. Sit had also assumed the posts of Deputy to 

the National People’s Congress of the PRC from 1993 to 2008 and Advisor to the Governor of Guangdong Province of 

the PRC from 2000 to 2005. He was formerly a member of the Preparatory Committee of the Hong Kong Special 

Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) of the National People’s Congress of the PRC, Port and Marine Board of the HKSAR 

Government, Committee on Port and Harbour Development and the Port Development Board of the HKSAR Government.

Prof. Sit is currently a non-executive director of CIAM Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is pleased to present this annual report together 

with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 

31 December 2013.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is a public company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. The Company acts as an investment 

holding company. The principal activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the 

consolidated financial statements. The analysis of segment information of the Group during the financial year is set out 

in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 are set out in the section headed “Consolidated Statement 

of Comprehensive Income” on page 31 of this report. The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend 

for the year ended 31 December 2013.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
The Group’s largest supplier contributed 51% to the Group’s total purchases of the year under review and the aggregate 

amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s top five suppliers represented 100% of the Group’s total purchases.

The Group’s largest customer accounted for 46% of the Group’s turnover (excluding guaranteed return) and 100% of 

the total turnover (excluding guaranteed return) of the Group was attributable to the Group’s top five customers.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (“Shareholder(s)”) of the Company (which to the best of the 

knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s 

major suppliers of customers noted above.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year are set out in the section headed 

“Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” on page 34 of this report and Note 32 to the consolidated financial 

statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2013, the Company did not have any reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as calculated 

in accordance with the provisions of section 79B of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). 

In addition, the Company’s share premium account in the amount of approximately HK$1,301,549,000 may be distributed 

in the form of fully paid bonus shares. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial 

years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements is set out on page 94 of this report. This summary 

does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company during the year are set 

out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE 
COMPANY
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 

during the year.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2013 and up to the date of this report is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Liang Jun

Ms. Yu Sau Lai

Mr. Fung Ka Keung, David

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Baodong (Chairman)

Ms. Sun Wei

Mr. Tse On Kin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

Mr. Zhang Xi

Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of the independent non-executive directors (the “INED”) of 

the Company with regard to his independence and considers that each INED is independent.

Pursuant to Articles 101A and 101B of the articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) of the Company, Mr. Yu 

Baodong, Mr. Tse On Kin and Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company.
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During the year under review, each Director has a service agreement with the Company for a term of three years and 

is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association. Save as disclosed 

above, none of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable 

by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 9 to 11 of this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees and senior management of the Group is set up by the remuneration committee 

(the “Remuneration Committee”) of the Company on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence. The 

emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to market competitiveness, 

individual performance and achievement. The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors 

and eligible employees, details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Options” below.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong) in making mandatory provident fund contributions for its Hong Kong employees. The Group has also complied 

with the relevant PRC laws and regulations in making contributions to the various social insurance funds for its PRC 

employees.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2013, the following person(s) is/are Directors or the chief executive of the Company who had or 

was deemed to have an interest or short position in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or 

any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, 

Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or 

short position which they had or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required, pursuant to 

Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) were required to be notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 

set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules:

Long Position in the Shares and underlying Shares 

Name of Director Capacity

Number of 

Shares held

Number of underlying 

Shares held under 

equity derivatives  

(Note 1) Total

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding  

(Note 2)

Mr. Liang Jun Beneficial Owner 2,000,000 50,000,000 52,000,000 0.39%

Mr. Fung Ka Keung, David Beneficial Owner — 10,000,000 10,000,000 0.07%

Ms. Yu Sau Lai Beneficial Owner — 10,000,000 10,000,000 0.07%

Mr. Yu Baodong Beneficial Owner — 50,000,000 50,000,000 0.37%

Ms. Sun Wei Beneficial Owner — 50,000,000 50,000,000 0.37%

Mr. Tse On Kin Beneficial Owner — 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.04%

Notes:

(1) These are share options granted by the Company to the Directors under the share option scheme adopted by the Shareholders 

on 20 August 2008 and refreshed on 3 June 2010. Such share options can be exercised by the Directors at various intervals 

during the period from 21 April 2011 to 20 April 2021 at an exercise price of HK$0.168 per Share.

(2) The approximate percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the number of shares in issue of 13,410,027,100 Shares 

as at 31 December 2013.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, as far as the Board was aware, none of the Directors or the chief 

executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short position in any shares, underlying shares 

and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which 

(i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of 

the SFO (including interest or short position which they had or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or 

(ii) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) were 

required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions 

by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTIONS
2002 Option Scheme
On 27 May 2002, a share option scheme (the “2002 Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The purpose of 

the 2002 Option Scheme was to enable the Group to grant options to selected participants as incentives or reward for 

their contributions to the Group. The participants included (i) any eligible employee; (ii) any supplier of goods or services 

to any member of the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group held any interest (“Invested Entity”); (iii) 

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any person or entity that provided research, development or other 

technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder or any member of the Group or any 

Invested Entity; and (vi) any company wholly owned by any participant. The 2002 Option Scheme would remain in force 

for a period commencing on 27 May 2002 and expiring at the close of business on the business day preceding the 

tenth anniversary.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2002 Option 

Scheme and any other scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the 

Company as at the date on which the 2002 Option Scheme was adopted, without prior approval from the Shareholders. 

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each 

participant in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant of options shall not exceed 1% of the issued 

share capital of the Company.

The subscription price will be determined by the Directors, which shall not be less than the higher of the closing price 

of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of grant of options or the average 

closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five days immediately 

preceding the date of grant of the options. Options may generally be exercised in whole or part at any time during the 

period commencing on the first business day from the date of grant of the options and expiring on the close of business 

on the last day of such period as determined by the Directors and notified to the grantee (in any event such period 

must not be more than 10 years from the date of grant of the options).

The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s share options under the 2002 Option Scheme during the 

year:

Market Value per Share

Date of grant  
of share options

Exercise period  
of share options

Exercise 
price of 

share 
options

As at 
1.1.2013

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Lapsed 
during the 

year
As at 

31.12.2013

Immediately 
preceding the 
grant date of 
share options

Immediately 
preceding the 

exercise date of 
share options

Employee — in Aggregate

26.05.2005 26.05.2005 to 25.05.2014 0.69 700,000 — — — 700,000 0.68 —

03.08.2005 0.08.2005 to 02.08.2015 0.688 500,000 — — 500,000 — 0.66 —

During the year under review, 500,000 share options under the 2002 Option Scheme were lapsed. As at the date of this 

report, the 2002 Option Scheme was terminated with the passing of an ordinary resolution at the extraordinary general 

meeting of the Company held on 20 August 2008. The outstanding options were exercisable in accordance with the 

terms of the 2002 Option Scheme.
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2008 Option Scheme
On 20 August 2008, a new share option scheme (the “2008 Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The purpose 

of the 2008 Option Scheme was to attract, retain and motivate talented participants to strive for future developments 

and expansion of the Group. The participants are as follows:

(i) any full-time employee and Director (including Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Director) 

of the Group; and any part time employee with weekly working hours of ten hours and above of the Group 

(collectively, Employee”);

(ii) any advisor or consultant to the Group; any provider of goods and/or services to the Group; or any other person 

who, at the sole determination of the Board, has contributed to the Group (the assessment criterion of which are 

(a) such person’s contribution to the development and performance of the Group; (b) the quality of work performed 

by such person for the Group; (c) the initiative and commitment of such person in performing his or her duties; 

and (d) the length of service or contribution of such person to the Group) (collectively, “Business Associate”); and

(iii) the trustee of any trust (whether family, discretionary or otherwise) whose beneficiaries or objects include any 

Employee or Business Associate of the Group.

The 2008 Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the date of adoption.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2008 Option 

Scheme and any other scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the 

Company as at the date on which the 2008 Option Scheme was adopted, without prior approval from the Shareholders. 

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the option granted and to be granted to each 

participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Since there was a substantial increase in the issued share capital of the Company after the adoption of the 2008 Option 

Scheme, the Directors had gained Shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting to increase the total number 

of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to 1,285,702,710 Shares, representing 10% of the issued 

share capital of the Company as at 26 April 2010. The subscription price will be determined by the Directors, which 

shall not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 

sheets on the date of grant of options; or (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 

daily quotations sheets for the five days immediately preceding the date of grant of option; or (iii) the nominal value of 

a share.

Options may generally be exercised in whole or part at any time during the period commencing on the first business 

day from the date of grant of the options and expiring on the close of business on the last day of such period as 

determined by the Directors and notified to the grantee (in any event such period must not be more than 10 years from 

the date of grant of the options) subject to any restrictions as may be imposed on the exercise of an option during the 

period in which an option may be exercised.

On 21 April 2011, 313,200,000 share options were granted at an exercise price of HK$0.168 per Share under the 2008 

Option Scheme, of which 312,200,000 share options were accepted and 1,000,000 share options were lapsed due to 

non-acceptance by the grantee within the prescribed time limit. For the year under review, 22,300,000 share options 

(2012: 21,200,000) have lapsed following the cessation of employment of the relevant grantees.
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The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s share options under the 2008 Option Scheme during the 

year:

Directors or category  
of participant

Exercises period  
of share options

Exercise 
price of 

share 
options  

HK$
As at  

1.1.2013

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year  
HK$

Lapsed 
during the 

year
As at 

31.12.2013

Directors

Mr. Liang Jun 21.4.2011 to 20.4.2021 0.168 20,000,000 — — — 20,000,000

21.4.2012 to 20.4.2021 0.168 15,000,000 — — — 15,000,000

21.4.2013 to 20.4.2021 0.168 15,000,000 — — — 15,000,000

Mr. Fung Ka Keung, David 21.4.2011 to 20.4.2021 0.168 4,000,000 — — — 4,000,000

21.4.2012 to 20.4.2021 0.168 3,000,000 — — — 3,000,000

21.4.2013 to 20.4.2021 0.168 3,000,000 — — — 3,000,000

Ms. Yu Sau Lai 21.4.2011 to 20.4.2021 0.168 4,000,000 — — — 4,000,000

21.4.2012 to 20.4.2021 0.168 3,000,000 — — — 3,000,000

21.4.2013 to 20.4.2021 0.168 3,000,000 — — — 3,000,000

Mr. Yu Baodong 21.4.2011 to 20.4.2021 0.168 20,000,000 — — — 20,000,000

21.4.2012 to 20.4.2021 0.168 15,000,000 — — — 15,000,000

21.4.2013 to 20.4.2021 0.168 15,000,000 — — — 15,000,000

Ms. Sun Wei 21.4.2011 to 20.4.2021 0.168 20,000,000 — — — 20,000,000

21.4.2012 to 20.4.2021 0.168 15,000,000 — — — 15,000,000

21.4.2013 to 20.4.2021 0.168 15,000,000 — — — 15,000,000

Mr. Tse On Kin 21.4.2011 to 20.4.2021 0.168 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000

21.4.2012 to 20.4.2021 0.168 1,500,000 — — — 1,500,000

21.4.2013 to 20.4.2021 0.168 1,500,000 — — — 1,500,000

Employees (in aggregate) 21.4.2011 to 20.4.2021 0.168 42,080,000 — — 11,800,000 30,280,000

21.4.2012 to 20.4.2021 0.168 31,560,000 — — 8,850,000 22,710,000

21.4.2013 to 20.4.2021 0.168 24,360,000 — — 1,650,000 22,710,000

Total 273,000,000 22,300,000 250,700,000

As at the date of this report, no options under the 2008 Option Scheme were exercised.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares 

and Debentures” and “Share options” above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a 

party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors, chief executive, or any of their 

respective spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or 

had exercised any such right during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors and Directors’ Service Contracts” above and in Note 11 to the 

consolidated financial statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company 

or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted 

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

INTERESTS OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, there was no contract of significance between 

the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, where “controlling 

shareholder” is defined in paragraph 16 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules at any time during the year under review.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
So far as is known to any Directors, as at 31 December 2013, the following persons (not being a Director or chief 

executive of the Company) had interests in the Shares or underlying Shares which were notified to the Company and 

the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register 

required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares and underlying Shares 

Name Capacity

Number of Shares 

and underlying 

Shares held

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding  

(Note 4)

Mr. Wong Kin Ting (“Mr. Wong”) Interest of controlled corporations 4,552,970,325  

(Note 1)

33.95%

Mr. Zhu Gongshan (“Mr. Zhu”) Beneficiary of discretionary trust & 

interest of controlled corporations

2,137,450,000  

(Note 2)

15.94%

Credit Suisse Trust Limited (“CST”) Trustee 2,000,000,000  

(Note 3)

14.91%
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Notes:

(1) According to the individual substantial shareholder notice filed by Mr. Wong on 1 November 2013, Mr. Wong was deemed to be 

interested in 4,552,970,325 Shares through his interests in the following corporations which are 100% owned by him:

(i) 295,000,000 Shares held by Delight Assets Management Limited; and

(ii) 4,257,970,325 Shares held by King Castle Enterprises Limited.

(2) According to the individual substantial shareholder notice filed by Mr. Zhu on 1 November 2013, Mr. Zhu was deemed to be 

interested in 2,137,450,000 Shares that comprised:

(i) 2,000,000,000 Shares indirectly held by Asia Pacific Energy Fund (“APEF”) (as described in Note 3 below); and

(ii) 137,450,000 Shares directly held by Profit Act Limited, which is indirectly controlled by Mr. Zhu.

(3) According to the corporate substantial shareholder notice filed by CST on 1 November 2013, CST was deemed to be interested 

in 2,000,000,000 Shares in its capacity as the trustee of these Shares. These 2,000,000,000 Shares were beneficially owned by 

Fast Sky Holdings Limited which in turn is 100% directly controlled by Golden Concord. Golden Concord is 100% controlled by 

Asia Pacific Energy Holdings Limited which in turn is 100% controlled by Asia Pacific Energy Fund Limited. Asia Pacific Energy 

Fund Limited is 50% controlled by Serangoon Limited and 50% controlled by Seletar Limited and both Serangoon Limited and 

Seletar Limited are 100% controlled by CST.

Out of these 2,000,000,000 Shares, 1,000,000,000 Shares are consideration Shares which may be issued (in whole or in part as 

appropriate) to Golden Concord or its nominee pursuant to an agreement dated 18 December 2009 (as amended by supplemental 

agreements on 24 December 2009 and 28 April 2010, respectively) in relation to the acquisition of the entire equity interests in 

Ocean Jade Investments Limited (collectively, the “Agreements”). Details of the Agreements are set out in the Company’s circular 

dated 30 April 2010, whereby it was disclosed that the allotment and issue of these 1,000,000,000 Shares is subject to the 

achievement of the profit guarantee as contained in the Agreements.

(4) The approximate percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the number of shares in issue of 13,410,027,100 Shares 

as at 31 December 2013.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, the Company had not been notified of any other person (other than 

the Directors whose interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and 

Underlying Share and Debentures” above) who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of 

the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of 

the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the best of knowledge of the Directors, at 

least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Throughout the year in 2013, the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions and principles as set out 

in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except for the deviations mentioned in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 

22 to 28 of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) which was established with written terms of reference in 

compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial 

reporting process and internal control system of the Group. The Audit Committee currently comprises three INEDs, 

namely, Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman), Mr. Zhang Xi and Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor. The audited financial results 

of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 were audited by BDO Limited. 

A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 

AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Liang Jun

Executive Director

Hong Kong

21 March 2014
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
It is a continuing commitment of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company and the management 

of the Company to maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices and procedures to safeguard the interests 

of the shareholders (the “Shareholder(s)”) of the Company and enhance the performance of the Group. The Company 

has adopted and applied the principles as set out in Appendix 14, the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate 

Governance Report (the “CG Code”), to the Rules Governing Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company has complied with the CG Code, save for the deviations 

specified and explained below.

Code Provision A.2.1
The post of chief executive (the “Chief Executive”) of the Company has remained vacant since March 2000. The duties 

of Chief Executive have been performed by other Executive Directors of the Company. As there is a clear division of 

responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy of the post of Chief Executive did not have any material impact on the 

operations of the Group. However, the Board will review the current board structure from time to time and if a candidate 

with suitable knowledge, skill and experience is identified, the Board will make an appointment to fill the post of Chief 

Executive as appropriate.

Code Provision A.6.7
Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code stipulates, among other things, that the independent non-executive directors and 

other non-executive directors should attend general meetings. Ms. Sun Wei, a non-executive director, and Professor Sit 

Fung Shuen, Victor, an independent non-executive director, did not attend the annual general meeting of the Company 

held on 31 May 2013 due to their other business engagements.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 

10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by Directors. Having 

made specific enquiry, all Directors who held office in 2013 confirmed that they have complied with the code throughout 

the year ended 31 December 2013.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(1) Board Composition

The Board currently comprises three Executive Directors (“EDs”), three Non-Executive Directors (“NEDs”) and three 

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The biographical details of each Director are shown in the 

Directors’ Profile on pages 9 to 11 of this report and are posted on the Company’s website. The Directors during 

the year under review and up to the date of this report were as follows:

 Executive Directors
Mr. Liang Jun

Mr. Fung Ka Keung, David

Ms. Yu Sau Lai
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 Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yu Baodong (Chairman)

Ms. Sun Wei

Mr. Tse On Kin

 Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

Mr. Zhang Xi

Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of the INEDs with regard to his independence to the 

Company and considers that each of the INEDs to be independent.

(2) Responsibility of the Board of Directors
It is the function of the Board to assume the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company. The Directors 

are collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s 

affairs.

Other duties include but are not limited to:

• maintaining effective control of the Company;

• giving strategic direction to the Company;

• reviewing, approving and monitoring fundamental financial and business strategies, plans and major 

corporate actions;

• ensuring that the Company complies with relevant laws, regulations and codes of business practice;

• ensuring that the Company communicates with Shareholders and the relevant stakeholders transparently 

and promptly; and

• monitoring the overall corporate governance functions of the Company.

Although the Board may and have delegated some of their responsibilities and functions to various committees 

and principal divisions, it acknowledges that it remains ultimately accountable for the performance and affairs of 

the Company.
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(3) Board Meetings and General Meetings
There were fourteen board meetings and one general meeting held during the year under review. The attendance 
of Directors at the board meetings and the general meeting was as follows:

Attendance  

No. of board  

meetings attended/ 

No. of board meetings 

held during the year

Attendance  

No. of general  

meetings attended/ 

No. of general meetings 

held during the year

Executive Directors
Mr. Liang Jun 13/14 1/1
Mr. Fung Ka Keung, David 11/14 0/1
Ms. Yu Sau Lai 11/14 1/1

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yu Baodong (Chairman) 11/14 1/1
Ms. Sun Wei 6/14 0/1
Mr. Tse On Kin 6/14 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen 8/14 1/1
Mr. Zhang Xi 8/14 1/1
Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor 7/14 0/1

(4) Continuous Professional Development
For newly appointed Director, the Company will provide an induction package including necessary information 
and briefings and Directors are encouraged to participate in professional development courses and seminars to 
ensure that he is aware of his responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements. 
Ongoing professional trainings and seminars had been and will continuously be offered to all Directors in order 
for them to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as directors of listed company.

All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects, together 
with latest development on the changes of applicable rules and regulations, to enable the Board as a whole and 
each Director to discharge their duties.

During the year under review, all Directors have participated in two trainings offered by the Company except for 
Ms. Sun Wei who had participated in one training.

(5) Chairman and Chief Executive
Mr. Yu Baodong is the Chairman of the Board and there is no Chief Executive during the year under review and 
up to the date of this report.

Chairman and Chief Executive are responsible for the management of the board and the day-to-day management 

of the Company. The Company has established and adopted a “Division of Responsibilities of Chairman and Chief 

Executive” guideline which clearly identified the respective roles of Chairman and Chief Executives. In brief, the 

Chairman is responsible for providing leadership for the Board and the Chief Executives is responsible for leading 

the management in the day-to-day running of the Group’s business in accordance with the business plans and 

within the budgets approved by the Board.
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During the year under review, the post of Chief Executive has been vacant and the duties of Chief Executive were 

performed by all EDs of the Company.

(6) Non-Executive Directors
During the year under review and up to the date of this report, all NEDs have been appointed for a specific term 

of service. Pursuant to the articles of the association of the Company, all NEDs shall be subject to retirement by 

rotation at least once every three years at the annual general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible for 

re-election.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board currently has three committees, namely the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination 

Committee. All the Board committees are empowered by the Board under their own terms of reference which were 

published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

(1) Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established in 2006 with specific written terms of reference and its main function 

is to make recommendations to the Board on policies relating to the remuneration of other Directors. In accordance 

with the Listing Rules, the majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee comprises INEDs.

During the year under review and up to date of this report, the members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr. 

Zhang Xi (Chairman), Mr Chan Chi Yuen and Mr. Liang Jun.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has performed the following duties:

• determining, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive Director and 

senior management;

• making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of NEDs; and

• ensuring no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remunerations.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year and the attendance of its members was as follows:

No. of meetings 

attended/ 

No. of meetings held 

during the year

Mr. Zhang Xi 1/1

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen 1/1

Mr. Liang Jun 1/1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be 

disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial 

statements.
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(2) Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprising only INEDs was established with specific written terms of reference that complied 

with the Listing Rules. The main purpose of the Audit Committee is to review and provide supervision over the 

Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls.

During the year under review and up to date of this report, the members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr. 

Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman), Mr. Zhang Xi and Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee has performed the following duties:

• making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external 

auditor;

• reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the 

audit process in accordance with applicable standard;

• monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Company; and

• reviewing the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year and the attendance of its members was as follows:

No. of meetings 

attended/ 

No. of meetings held 

during the year

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman) 2/2

Mr. Zhang Xi 2/2

Professor Sit Fung Shuen, Victor 1/2

(3) Nomination Committee
The Board established a Nomination Committee comprising one NED and two INEDs with specific written terms 

of reference. Its main function is to review and assess the structure, size and composition of the Board and to 

identify and make recommendation to the Board on the selection, appointment or re-appointment for directorship.

Pursuant to code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, on 23 August 2013, the Board adopted a board diversity policy 

setting out the approach to diversity of members of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit 

and contribution while taking into account the diversity components including but not limited to gender, age, 

cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, expertise, skills, knowledge and length of 

service. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality 

of its performance.

During the year under review and up to date of this report, the members of the Nomination Committee comprised 

Mr. Yu Baodong (Chairman), Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and Mr. Zhang Xi.
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During the year under review, the Nomination Committee has performed the following duties:

• reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board and make recommendations on any proposed 

changes to the Board complement on Company strategy;

• assessed the independence of INEDs;

• made recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of director and succession 

planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and Chief Executive; and

• reviewed the board diversity policy and to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year under review and the attendance of its members 

was as follows:

Attendance  

No. of meetings 

attended/No. of 

meetings held during 

the year

Mr. Yu Baodong (Chairman) 1/1

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen 1/1

Mr. Zhang Xi 1/1

(4) Corporate Governance Function
The Company has not established any committee responsible for the corporate governance function of the Group 

which is collectively performed by the Board. The Board acknowledges overseeing the corporate governance 

function of the Group collectively and agreed to comply with a specific written terms of reference.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the following corporate governance functions:

• reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations;

• reviewed the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management; and

• monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year under review, the fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by BDO Limited, the external 

auditor of the Company, were HK$830,000 and HK$108,000, respectively.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts and financial statements which give true and 

fair view results of the Group.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013, the Directors have made judgments and 

estimates that are prudent and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records, safeguarding of the assets 

of the Company and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

A statement by the Independent Auditor about its reporting and its responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditor’s 

Report on pages 29 to 30 of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible to maintain sound and effective internal controls of the Group. During the year under review, 

SHINEWING Risk Services Limited has been engaged to assist the Board in evaluating the internal control environment 

of the Group.

During the year, the Company conducted reviews on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems, covering 

financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions, and including reviews on the adequacy 

of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial 

report function.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Ho Pui Man, the financial controller of the Company, was appointed by the Board as the Company Secretary and 

she has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules of obtaining no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training 

during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The Board had adopted a Shareholder’s Communication Policy which aims to promoting and facilitating effective 

communication with its Shareholders. The objective is to ensure the Company provides timely, clear, reliable and material 

information for its Shareholder in exercising their rights. The Policy defined how Shareholders can convene an 

extraordinary general meeting, procedures to which enquiries may be put to the Board and sufficient contact details 

enabling these enquiries to be properly directed and procedure and sufficient contact details for putting forward proposals 

at the Shareholders’ meetings. A procedure for election of directors was also adopted providing guidelines on how 

Shareholders can propose an individual as directors of the Company. Shareholders’ Communication Policy and the 

Procedures for Election of Directors are published on the Company’s website.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ASIA ENERGY LOGISTICS GROUP LIMITED

亞洲能源物流集團有限公司
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 31 to 93, which comprise the consolidated and company statements 

of financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary 

of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This report 

is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no 

other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this 

report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks 

of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements 

that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 

the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and 

of the Group as at 31 December 2013 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 3(b) to the consolidated financial statements which indicates 

that as at 31 December 2013, the Group had net current liabilities amounting to approximately HK$244,858,000 and had 

financial liabilities comprising principally bank loans and related interest for the construction of the railway that are 

expected to be repaid within the twelve months from the end of the reporting period as detailed in Note 38(b) to the 

consolidated financial statements in the amount of approximately HK$458,178,000 which is in excess of its current assets 

of approximately HK$115,050,000. Further, there is capital expenditure in respect of the capital commitment for the 

construction of the railway as detailed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements which is expected to be 

incurred during the year ending 31 December 2014. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 

which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

BDO Limited 

Certified Public Accountants

Wong Chi Wai 

Practising Certificate number P04945

Hong Kong, 21 March 2014
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2013 2012

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 5 19,084 —

Cost of sales (17,158) —

Gross profit 1,926 —

Other income, gains and losses 6 12,129 12,147

Depreciation and amortisation 9 (6,334) (8,216)

Staff costs 9 (22,682) (30,824)

Impairment loss on intangible assets 16 (6,244) (27,796)

Change in fair value of contingent consideration payable 26 (17,689) 41,912

Share of results of jointly controlled entity 19 (14,242) (17,165)

Other operating expenses (20,514) (24,820)

Finance cost 8 (55,196) —

Loss before income tax 9 (128,846) (54,762)

Income tax 10 — —

Loss for the year (128,846) (54,762)

Other comprehensive income

Exchange difference arising on translation of financial 
statements of foreign operations which may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss 20,395 (174)

Total comprehensive income for the year (108,451) (54,936)

Loss for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (101,069) (47,996)

Non-controlling interests (27,777) (6,766)

(128,846) (54,762)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (87,900) (47,974)

Non-controlling interests (20,551) (6,962)

(108,451) (54,936)

Loss per share — basic and diluted (HK cents per share) 14 (0.78) (0.37)
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2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 73,763 11,202
Intangible assets 16 78,585 88,683
Construction in progress 17 1,946,519 1,818,354
Railway construction prepayment 88,962 89,234
Interest in a jointly controlled entity 19 — —
Interest in an associate 20 — —

2,187,829 2,007,473

Current assets
Other receivables and prepayments 21 48,639 21,622
Trading securities 22 36,234 55,723
Loan to an associate 20 17,025 18,150
Cash and cash equivalents 23 13,152 113,279

115,050 208,774

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 53,948 48,852
Bank loans and other borrowings 25 268,618 61,676
Amount due to a jointly controlled entity 27 28,039 13,826
Amounts due to minority equity owners of subsidiaries 36(a) 9,303 9,021

359,908 133,375

Net current (liabilities)/assets (244,858) 75,399

Total assets less current liabilities 1,942,971 2,082,872

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 25 1,123,067 1,212,292
Contingent consideration payable 26 28,669 10,980

1,151,736 1,223,272

NET ASSETS 791,235 859,600

Capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 29 134,100 128,570
Reserves 443,568 496,912

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 577,668 625,482
Non-controlling interests 30 213,567 234,118

TOTAL EQUITY 791,235 859,600

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 March 

2014.

Liang Jun Yu Sau Lai
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2013 2012

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries 18 624,575 517,404

Current assets

Other receivables and prepayments 21 206 5,634

Cash and cash equivalents 23 2,805 70,261

3,011 75,895

Current liabilities

Other payables 24 1,933 2,050

Net current assets 1,078 73,845

Net assets 625,653 591,249

EQUITY

Share capital 29 134,100 128,570

Reserves 32 491,553 462,679

Total equity 625,653 591,249

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 March 

2014.

Liang Jun Yu Sau Lai
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserves

Share 
option 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 29) (Note 31) (Note)

As at 1 January 2012 128,570 1,268,576 4,190 28,556 31,937 (795,990) 665,839 241,080 906,919

Loss for the year — — — — — (47,996) (47,996) (6,766) (54,762)

Other comprehensive income
— Exchange difference arising on 

  translation of financial statements of 
foreign operations which may be 
reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss — — — — 22 — 22 (196) (174)

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — 22 (47,996) (47,974) (6,962) (54,936)

Recognition of share option expenses — — — 7,617 — — 7,617 — 7,617
Forfeiture of share options — — — (1,249) — 1,249 — — —

As at 31 December 2012 128,570 1,268,576 4,190 34,924 31,959 (842,737) 625,482 234,118 859,600

Loss for the year — — — — — (101,069) (101,069) (27,777) (128,846)

Other comprehensive income
— Exchange difference arising on 

  translation of financial statements of 
foreign operations which may be 
reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss — — — — 13,169 — 13,169 7,226 20,395

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — 13,169 (101,069) (87,900) (20,551) (108,451)

Shares issued under placing shares 
scheme 5,530 32,973 — — — — 38,503 — 38,503

Recognition of share option expenses — — — 1,583 — — 1,583 — 1,583
Forfeiture of share options — — — (4,645) — 4,645 — — —

As at 31 December 2013 134,100 1,301,549 4,190 31,862 45,128 (939,161) 577,668 213,567 791,235

Note:

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. 

The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 3(q).



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2013

35

Annual Report 2013

線條長度請跟RunHead拉長或縮短
行
Table時

，
請
收
Leading做

12pt

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities

Loss before income tax (128,846) (54,762)

Adjustments for:

Net gain on trading securities (10,684) (10,361)

Bank interest income (98) (715)

Loan interest income (1,110) (1,110)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,761 3,140

Amortisation of intangible assets 3,854 5,076

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (234) 50

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 1,583 7,617

Finance cost 55,196 —

Change in fair value of contingent consideration payable 17,689 (41,912)

Impairment loss on intangible assets 6,244 27,796

Impairment loss on loan to an associate 1,125 5,267

Share of results of jointly controlled entity 14,242 17,165

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,934 (1,070)

Operating cash flows before working capital changes (36,344) (43,819)

Increase in other receivables and prepayments (27,017) (14,393)

Decrease/(increase) in trading securities 30,173 (547)

Increase in trade and other payables 5,154 6

Increase in amounts due to minority equity owners of subsidiaries — 2,837

Cash used in operations (28,034) (55,916)

Interest paid on bank loans (106,619) (98,988)

Interest received 1,208 1,825

Net cash used in operating activities (133,445) (153,079)

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (65,075) (161)

Payments for construction in progress (17,033) (208,541)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 250 —

Net cash used in investing activities (81,858) (208,702)
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2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financing activities

Net proceeds from placing share scheme 38,503 —

Proceeds from bank loans — 264,364

Proceeds from other borrowings 139,657 —

Repayment of bank loans (63,608) —

Repayment of loan from shareholder — (238)

Net cash generated from financing activities 114,552 264,126

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (100,751) (97,655)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 113,279 211,157

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 624 (223)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 13,152 113,279
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1. ORGANISATION AND OPERATIONS
Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong 

and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of 

its registered office and its principal place of business is located at Unit 1708, Level 17, International Commerce 

Centre, 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Group, comprising the Company and its subsidiaries, together with its jointly controlled entity, is engaged in 

(i) railway construction and operations and (ii) shipping and logistics.

2.  ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”)

 (a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 January 2013

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2009–2011 Cycle

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2010–2012 Cycle

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2011–2013 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements

HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits

HK(IFRIC) — Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs of the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

Amendments to HKFRS 1 Government loans

Except as explained below, the adoption of these amendments has no material impact on the Group’s 

financial statements.

  Amendments to HKAS1 (Revised) — Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
The amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised) require the Group to separate items presented in other comprehensive 

income into those that may be reclassified to profit and loss in the future and those that may not. Tax on 

items of other comprehensive income is allocated and disclosed on the same basis.
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2.  ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

 (a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 January 2013 (Continued)

  HKFRS 12 — Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
HKFRS 12 integrates and makes consistent the disclosures requirements about interests in subsidiaries, 

associates and joint arrangements. It also introduces new disclosure requirements, including those related 

to unconsolidated structured entities. The general objective of the standard is to enable users of financial 

statements to evaluate the nature and risks of a reporting entity’s interests in other entities and the effects 

of those interests on the reporting entity’s financial statements.

HKFRS 12 disclosures are provided in Notes 18, 19, 20 and 30. As the new standard affects only disclosure, 

there is no effect on the Group’s financial position and performance.

  HKFRS 13 — Fair Value Measurement
HKFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how to measure fair value when it is required or permitted 

by other standards. The standard applies to both financial and non-financial items measured at fair value 

and introduces a fair value measurement hierarchy. The definitions of the three levels in this measurement 

hierarchy are generally consistent with HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”. HKFRS 13 defines fair 

value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date (i.e. an exit price). The standard removes the 

requirement to use bid and ask prices for financial assets and liabilities quoted in an active market. Rather 

the price within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value in the circumstances should be 

used. It also contains extensive disclosure requirements to allow users of the financial statements to assess 

the methods and inputs used in measuring fair values and the effects of fair value measurements on the 

financial statements. HKFRS 13 is applied prospectively.

HKFRS 13 did not materially affect any fair value measurements of the Group’s assets and liabilities and 

therefore has no effect on the Group’s financial position and performance. The standard requires additional 

disclosures about fair value measurements and these are included in Notes 16 and 26. Comparative 

disclosures have not been presented in accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard.

 (b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued and have been early adopted

  Amendments to HKAS 36 — Recoverable Amount Disclosures
The amendments limit the requirements to disclose the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating 

unit (CGU) to those periods in which an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed, and expand the 

disclosures where the recoverable amount of impaired assets or CGUs has been determined based on fair 

value less costs of disposal. The amendments are effective for annual periods commencing on or after 1 

January 2014. The Group has early adopted the amendments to HKAS 36 in the current period. The 

disclosures about the impairment of intangible assets in Note 16 have been modified accordingly.
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2.  ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

 (c) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective
The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements have been issued, 

but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group.

Effective date

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities

(i)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (iv)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 
and HKAS 39

Hedge Accounting (iv)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 
and HKAS 27 (2011)

Investment Entities (i)

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of 
Hedge Accounting

(i)

HK (IFRIC) 21 Levies (i)

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2010–2012 Cycle (iii)

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2011–2013 Cycle (ii)

Effective date:

(i) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

(ii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

(iii) Effective for annual periods beginning, or transactions occurring, on or after 1 July 2014

(iv) No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for adoption

  Amendments to HKAS 32 — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The amendments clarify the offsetting requirements by adding appliance guidance to HKAS 32 which clarifies 

when an entity “currently has a legally enforceable right to set off” and when a gross settlement mechanism 

is considered equivalent to net settlement.
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2.  ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

 (c) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

  HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments
Under HKFRS 9, financial assets are classified into financial assets measured at fair value or at amortised 

cost depending on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash 

flow characteristics of the financial assets. Fair value gains or losses will be recognised in profit or loss 

except for those non-trade equity investments, which the entity will have a choice to recognise the gains 

and losses in other comprehensive income. HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and 

measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities that are 

designated at fair value through profit or loss, where the amount of change in fair value attributable to 

change in credit risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income unless that would create 

or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for 

derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

  Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and HKAS 39 — Hedge Accounting
The amendments overhaul hedge accounting to allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities 

in financial statements. Changes included in HKFRS 9 to address the own credit risk issue on financial 

liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss can be applied in isolation without the need to 

change any other accounting for financial instruments. The amendments also remove the 1 January 2015 

effective date for HKFRS 9.

  Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2012) — Investment Entities
The amendments apply to a particular class of businesses that qualify as investment entities. An investment 

entity’s business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment income 

or both. It evaluates the performance of its investments on a fair value basis. Investment entities could 

include private equity organisations, venture capital organisations, pension funds and investment funds.

The amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirements in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 

Statements and require investment entities to measure particular subsidiaries at fair value through profit or 

loss rather than to consolidate them. The amendments also set out the disclosure requirements for investment 

entities. The amendments are applied retrospectively subject to certain transitional provisions.

  Amendments to HKAS 39 — Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting
The amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a hedging instrument 

to a central counterparty meets specified criteria.

  HK (IFRIC) 21 — Levies
HK (IFRIC) 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability to pay a levy imposed by government when the 

activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs.
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2.  ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

 (c) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

  Annual Improvements 2010–2012 Cycle and 2011–2013 Cycle
The amendments issued under the annual improvements process make small, non-urgent charges to a 

number of standards where they are currently unclear. Among them HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 

has been amended to clarify how the gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation are treated 

where an entity uses the revaluation model. The carrying amount of the asset is restated to revalued amount. 

The accumulated depreciation may be eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset. 

Alternatively, the gross carrying amount may be adjusted in a manner consistent with the revaluation of the 

carrying amount of the asset and the accumulated depreciation is adjusted to equal the difference between 

the gross carrying amount and the carrying amount after taking into account accumulated impairment losses.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new 

standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application and the directors are 

not yet in a position to quantify the effects on the Group’s financial statements.

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 (a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong 

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the 

“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the requirements of Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements included applicable 

disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

 (b) Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified 

for the revaluation of certain financial instruments which have been measured at fair value.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had net current liabilities amounting to approximately HK$244,858,000 

and had financial liabilities comprising principally bank loans and related interest for the construction of the 

railway that are expected to be repaid within the twelve months from the end of the reporting period as 

detailed in Note 38(b) to the consolidated financial statements in the amount of approximately HK$458,178,000 

which is in excess of its current assets of approximately HK$115,050,000. Further, there is capital expenditure 

in respect of the capital commitment for the construction of the railway as detailed in Note 33 to the 

consolidated financial statements which is expected to be incurred during the year ending 31 December 

2014. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern as the Group might not have sufficient financial resources 

to meet its financial obligation payable within the twelve months from the end of the reporting period, and 

the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (b) Basis of measurement and going concern assumption (Continued)

The above mentioned bank loans and majority of other related current liabilities due within the next twelve 

months from the end of the reporting period were arisen from the Company’s non-wholly owned subsidiaries, 

承德寬平鐵路有限公司 (Chengde Kuanping Railway Limited*) (“Kuanping Company”), 承德遵小鐵路有限公司 

(Chengde Zunxiao Railway Limited*) (“Zunxiao Company”) and 唐山唐承鐵路運輸有限責任公司 (Tangshan 

Tangcheng Railway Transportation Company Limited*) (“Tangcheng Company”) (collectively, “Railway 

Companies”). Subsequent to the end of the reporting period on 14 February 2014 as more fully described 

in Note 40 and the Company’s announcement dated 28 February 2014, the Group through its wholly-owned 

subsidiary entered into three disposal agreements for the disposal of its majority equity interests in Kuanping 

Company and Zunxiao Company and entire equity interest in Tangcheng Company. Upon completion of the 

disposal of the relevant equity interests in the Railway Companies, the Group’s obligations and liabilities in 

relation to construction of the railway will be significantly reduced with significant net cash proceeds to be 

received.

The directors have carried out a detailed review of the cash flow forecast of the Group for the fifteen months 

ending 31 March 2015 and taken into account the above proposed disposal, and consider that the Group 

will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the twelve 

months from 31 December 2013. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare 

the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

If the going concern basis is not appropriate, adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying 

amounts of the assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise and 

to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.

 (c) Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”) while the consolidated and the Company’s 

financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). As the shares of the Company are listed 

on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the directors consider that it will be more appropriate to adopt 

HK$ as the Group’s and the Company’s presentation currency.

 (d) Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(“the Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together with unrealised 

profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also 

eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case 

the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where 

necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 

into line with those used by other members of the Group.

* for identification purposes only
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (d) Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 

acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities 

incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity 

interest in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are 

recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the 

non-controlling interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or 

at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests are 

measured at fair value unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs 

incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are 

deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value. 

Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they arise 

from new information obtained within the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition 

date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration 

classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 

equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest are adjusted 

to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by 

which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 

recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 

interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 

and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation 

to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or 

liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present ownership 

interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling 

interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-

controlling interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (e) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The Company controls an 

investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights, to 

variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control 

is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these 

elements of control.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any 

impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends 

received and receivable.

 (f) Associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor 

a jointly controlled entity. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating 

policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control over those policies. Associates are accounted 

for using the equity method whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount 

are adjusted for the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets except that 

losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation 

to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associates are recognised only to the 

extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and 

losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. Where 

unrealised losses provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they are recognised immediately 

in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the 

associate. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate has been impaired, the 

carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.

 (g) Jointly arrangements
The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint 

control over the relevant activities of the arrangement to the Group and at least one other party. Joint control 

is assessed under the same principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as either:

— Joint ventures: where the Group has rights to only the net assets of the joint arrangement; or

— Joint operations: where the Group has both the rights to assets and obligations for the liabilities of 

the joint arrangement.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (g) Jointly arrangements (Continued)

In assessing the classification of interests in joint arrangements, the Group considers:

— The structure of the joint arrangement;

— The legal form of joint arrangements structured through a separate vehicle;

— The contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement; and

— Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the same manner as investments in associates (i.e. 

using the equity method — see note 3(f)).

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint venture above the fair value of the Group’s share of the 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying 

amount of the investment in joint venture. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in a joint 

venture has been impaired the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way 

as other non-financial assets.

The Group accounts for its interests joint operations by recognising its share of assets, liabilities, revenues 

and expenses in accordance with its contractually conferred rights and obligations.

 (h) Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 

in a business combination or through acquisition of asset is stated at fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 

accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows. Intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Contract of affreightment 25 years

Club membership indefinite
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (i) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial position at their historical costs, less 

any subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Historical cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 

asset to its present working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the asset 

has been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is charged to profit or 

loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the 

expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the 

use of the assets, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of the asset or a separate asset.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than construction in progress, net of 

expected residual value over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful 

lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting date, with the effect of any changes in estimate 

accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Buildings, plant, and equipment 2%–5%

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining term of the lease but not exceeding 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20%–33%

Motor vehicles 20%

Locomotives 10%

Vessels Over the estimated remaining useful life. i.e. 8%

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 

determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 

recognised in profit or loss.

Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional 

fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting 

policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the 

assets are ready for their intended use.

 (j) Impairment of other assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment 

loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

• property, plant and equipment;

• intangible assets;

• construction in progress;

• investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entity.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (j) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset 

is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 

amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 

asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

 (k) Financial assets

  i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
These assets represent trading securities which are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at 

fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

  ii) Loans and receivables
Other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 

are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the 

effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be 

immaterial.

  iii) Impairment loss on financial assets
Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting date. Loans and 

receivables are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events 

that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 

financial asset have been impacted.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

— default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

— significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an 

adverse effect on the debtor.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (k) Financial assets (Continued)

  iii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows:

— for other receivables, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial 

asset’s original effective interest rate, where the effect of discounting is material. This 

assessment is made collectively where financial assets carried at amortised cost share similar 

risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed 

as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment 

collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 

similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss 

is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeding that which have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

in prior years.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of other receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful 

but not remote, are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery 

is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against other receivables directly and 

any amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries 

of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. 

Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 

directly are recognised in profit or loss.

  iv) Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and 

of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or where 

appropriate, a shorter period.

  v) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in 

relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the transfer 

meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (k) Financial assets (Continued)

  vi) Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due 

in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract 

issued by the Group and not designated as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially 

at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee 

contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at 

the higher of: (i) the amount determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 

and Contingent Assets if and when it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee will call 

upon the Group under the guarantee; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, 

cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

 (l) Financial liabilities and equity instrument issued by the Group

  i) Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or equity in accordance with 

the substance of the contractual arrangement.

  ii) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs.

  iii) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 

financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss 

if the following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent 

treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on 

them on a different basis; (ii) the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed 

and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk 

management strategy; or (iii) the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would need 

to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured 

at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (l) Financial liabilities and equity instrument issued by the Group (Continued)

  iv) Financial liabilities at amortised cost
The Group’s other financial liabilities, including bank and other borrowings, are initially measured at 

fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method.

  v) Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 

of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, 

or where appropriate, a shorter period.

  vi) Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expires.

 (m) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks, and other short-

term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 

a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 (n) Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments/receivables are recognised as an expense/income on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 

economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

 (o) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or 

constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an outflow of economic 

benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 

economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (p) Income tax

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable 

or disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for 

goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax 

liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 

extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences 

can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the 

carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 

temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised in other 

comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

 (q) Foreign currencies
Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the 

transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the 

end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 

are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items 

that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, 

are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the 

retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except 

for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are 

recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange differences are also recognised 

in other comprehensive income.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (q) Foreign currencies (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated into the presentation 

currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange 

rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when 

the transactions took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the 

rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling 

interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on the 

translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operations 

concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange 

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised in the foreign exchange 

reserve relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the 

profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign 

operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and 

translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising 

are recognised in the foreign exchange reserve.

 (r) Employees’ benefits

  i) Defined contribution retirement plan
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 

when the services are rendered by the employees.

  ii) Equity-settled share-based payments
The Group issues share options to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are 

measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of 

grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 

expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the shares 

that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Fair value is measured using the Binomial Option Pricing model. The expected life used in the model 

has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, 

exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (s) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets which 

require a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of 

the cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of specific borrowings pending their 

expenditure on those assets is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

 (t) Related parties
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 

of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group or 

an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 (t) Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or 

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

 (u) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts 

receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and returns.

i) Charter-hire income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of lease.

ii) Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal outstanding at the applicable interest 

rate.

iii) Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established.

4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 

considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 

of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 (a) Going concern basis
As disclosed in Note 3(b), the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The 

appropriateness of the going concern basis is assessed after taking into consideration all relevant available 

information about the future of the Group, including business forecasts and cash flow forecasts for the fifteen  

months ending 31 March 2015. Such forecasts about the future inherently involve uncertainties. Actual results 

could differ significantly and hence render the adoption of the going concern basis not appropriate.
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

 (b) Impairment of other receivables and loan to an associate
The Group makes provision for impairment of other receivables and loan to an associate based on an 

estimate of the recoverability of these receivables. Provisions are applied to other receivables and loan to 

an associate where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. 

The identification of impairment of other receivables and loan to an associate requires the use of estimates. 

Where the expectation is different from the original estimates, such difference will impact carrying value of 

receivables and provision for impairment losses in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

 (c) Estimated impairment of intangible assets
Determining whether intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the future cash flows expected 

to arise from ownership of the intangible assets and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present 

value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As 

at 31 December 2013, the carrying amount of intangible assets was approximately HK$78,585,000 (2012: 

approximately HK$88,683,000), net of impairment of approximately HK$6,244,000 (2012: approximately 

HK$27,796,000) recognised during the year.

 (d) Trading securities
For listed securities which have been suspended from trading as at year end, the fair value was measured 

with reference to the quoted price of the last dealing date before suspension of trade and other available 

information consider appropriate by the directors as at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the carrying amounts 

of these securities amounted to HK$Nil (2012: approximately HK$6,405,000).

 (e) Contingent consideration payable
The Group has accounted for the contingent consideration in the acquisition of an intangible asset, through 

the acquisition of subsidiary as detailed in Note 26 in accordance with the provisions of HKFRS 3 (Revised) 

— Business Combinations. The number of shares of the Company which would be issued as consideration 

of the acquisition is subject to the results of the acquired subsidiary. The Group determines the provision 

to be made in respect of the contingent consideration based on the fair value of the shares of the Company 

at the date of acquisition of the subsidiary and the directors’ best estimate and weighted probability analysis 

of the future profit of the subsidiary. As the process requires input of subjective assumptions, any changes 

to the assumptions can materially affect the provision made. Subsequent gain or loss in fair value is 

recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 December 2013, total provision made in respect of contingent 

consideration by the Group amounted to approximately HK$28,669,000 (2012: approximately HK$10,980,000) 

and was included in contingent consideration payable.

 (f) Employee benefits — fair value of share-based payments
The directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique used in the valuation of 

share-based payment. Valuation techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied. The 

variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ 

best estimate, where possible, by observable market prices or rates.
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

 (g) Residual values of vessel
The Group estimates residual values of its vessel by reference to the lightweight tonnes of the vessel and 

the average demolition steel price of similar vessels in the Fair East market and Indian Sub-Continent market.

 (h) Useful lives of vessel
The Group estimates useful life of its vessel by reference to the average historical useful life of similar class 

of vessels, its expected usage, expected repair and maintenance programme, and technical or commercial 

obsolescence arising from changes or improvements in the vessel market.

5. TURNOVER
Turnover, which is also revenue, represents the amount received and receivable for time charters:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Charter-hire income 19,084 —

6. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net gain on trading securities

Change in fair value of trading securities 80,190 10,361

Loss on disposal of trading securities (69,506) —

10,684 10,361

Bank interest income 98 715

Loan interest income 1,110 1,110

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 234 (50)

Others 3 11

12,129 12,147
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker 

that are used to make strategic decisions. Central revenue and expenses are not allocated to the operating 

segments as they are not included in the measure of the segments’ results that are used by the chief operating 

decision-maker for assessment of segment performance.

The Group considers it has two reportable segments since September 2013 when it commenced to earn charter-

hire income. Accordingly, the operating segment “shipping and logistics” undertaken by the jointly controlled entity 

classified as “unallocated” for the year ended 31 December 2012 was reclassified as a reportable operating 

segment to conform with the current year’s classification. The segments are managed separately as each business 

offers different products and services and requires different business strategies. The following summary describes 

the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

— Railway construction and operations

— Shipping and logistics

The following tables present information regarding revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities for each reportable 

segment:

Year ended 31 December 2013
Railway construction 

and operations
Shipping and 

logistics Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue from external customers — 19,084 19,084

Segment loss (68,634) (22,465) (91,099)

Other segment information:

Interest revenue 5 — 5

Interest expenses (55,184) — (55,184)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1,532) (281) (1,813)

Amortisation of intangible assets — (3,854) (3,854)

Impairment loss on intangible assets — (6,244) (6,244)

Share of results of jointly controlled entity — (14,242) (14,242)

Operating lease payments (569) (15,305) (15,874)

Additions to non-current segment assets during 
the year (71,418) (63,994) (135,412)
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2012
Railway construction 

and operations
Shipping and 

logistics Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue from external customers — — —

Segment loss (15,874) (50,066) (65,940)

Other segment information:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1,966) — (1,966)

Amortisation of intangible assets — (5,076) (5,076)

Impairment loss on intangible assets — (27,796) (27,796)

Share of results of jointly controlled entity — (17,165) (17,165)

Operating lease payments (640) — (640)

Additions to non-current segment assets during 
the year (279,320) — (279,320)

The following tables present the reconciliations of segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss

Segment loss (91,099) (65,940)

Other income 1,203 1,828

Net gain on trading securities 10,684 10,361

Impairment loss on loan to an associate (1,125) (5,267)

Change in fair value of contingent consideration payable (17,689) 41,912

Other unallocated corporate expenses (30,820) (37,656)

Consolidated loss before income tax (128,846) (54,762)
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets

Railway construction and operations 2,070,099 1,957,848

Shipping and Logistics 157,821 98,760

Segment assets 2,227,920 2,056,608

Intangible assets 1,000 1,000

Trading securities 36,234 55,723

Loan to an associate 17,025 18,150

Other unallocated corporate assets 20,700 84,766

Consolidated total assets 2,302,879 2,216,247

Liabilities

Railway construction and operations 1,448,385 1,327,617

Shipping and Logistics 30,748 14,343

Segment liabilities 1,479,133 1,341,960

Contingent consideration payable 28,669 10,980

Other unallocated corporate liabilities 3,842 3,707

Consolidated total liabilities 1,511,644 1,356,647

 Geographical information
The Group’s non-current assets are principally located in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

Geographical segment information of the Group’s revenue is not presented as the directors consider that the 

nature of the provision of shipping services, which are carried out internationally, preclude a meaningful allocation 

of operating profit to specific geographical segments.

 Major customers
Revenue from the Group’s major customers of shipping and logistics segment, represents 10% or more of the 

Group’s revenues are listed as below:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A 8,791 —

Customer B 5,941 —

Customer C 2,351 —

Customer D 2,001 —

19,084 —
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8. FINANCE COST

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans and other borrowings

— wholly repayable within five years 3,387 —

— wholly repayable after five years 104,447 98,988

Total borrowing costs 107,834 98,988

Less:  amount capitalised in construction in progress 
  on specific borrowings (52,638) (98,988)

55,196 —

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

— Recognised in cost of sales 281 —

— Recognised in administrative expenses 2,480 3,140

Amortisation of intangible assets 3,854 5,076

6,615 8,216

Staff costs

— Salaries, wages and other benefits 20,836 22,947

— Equity-settled share-based payments 1,583 7,617

— Contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme 263 260

22,682 30,824

Auditor’s remuneration 938 900

Impairment loss on intangible assets 6,244 27,796

Impairment loss on loan to an associate 1,125 5,267

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (234) 50

Operating lease rentals in respect of

— land and buildings 4,462 4,224

— vessels 15,305 —

Net exchange loss/(gain) 20 (16)
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10. INCOME TAX
The income tax for the year can be reconciled to the accounting loss as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (128,846) (54,762)

Taxation calculated at PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% 
(2012: 25%) (32,211) (13,690)

Tax effect of differential tax rate 6,925 3,214
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for taxation purpose 23,772 15,512
Tax effect of non-taxable items (13,460) (8,743)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses and temporary differences 14,974 3,707

Income tax for the year — —

Hong Kong profits tax, if any, is calculated at 16.5% (2012: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the 

year. PRC subsidiaries are subjected to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% (2012: 25%).

11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
Members of senior management during the year comprised the directors only whose remuneration is set out below.

 (a) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2012: nine) directors were as follows:

  Year ended 31 December 2013

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
and other 

benefits

Payments 
for loss of 

office

Share-
based 

payments

Pension 
fund 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
Liang Jun — 1,560 — 315 15 1,890
Yu Sau Lai — 546 — 63 15 624
Fung Ka Keung — 650 — 63 15 728

Non-executive directors
Tse On Kin 444 — — 31 — 475
Sun Wei 444 — — 315 — 759
Yu Baodong 540 — — 315 15 870

Independent non-executive 
directors

Chan Chi Yuen 120 — — — — 120
Zhang Xi 120 — — — — 120
Sit Fung Shuen 120 — — — — 120

1,788 2,756 — 1,102 60 5,706
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11.  DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

 (a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

  Year ended 31 December 2012

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
and other 

benefits

Payments 
for loss of 

office

Share-
based 

payments

Pension 
fund 

contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors

Liang Jun — 1,430 — 1,531 14 2,975

Yu Sau Lai — 546 — 306 14 866

Fung Ka Keung — 650 — 306 14 970

Non-executive directors

Tse On Kin 444 — — 153 — 597

Sun Wei 444 — — 1,531 — 1,975

Yu Baodong 360 — — 1,531 11 1,902

Independent non-executive 
directors

Chan Chi Yuen 120 — — — — 120

Zhang Xi 120 — — — — 120

Sit Fung Shuen 120 — — — — 120

1,608 2,626 — 5,358 53 9,645

 (b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2012: four) were directors of the 

Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in (a) above. The emoluments of the remaining 

three (2012: one) individuals were as follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 2,459 1,023

Share-based payments 130 284

Contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme 94 —

2,683 1,307
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11.  DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

 (b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emolument of the highest paid individual, other than the directors of the Company, was within the 

following bands:

2013 2012

Number of 
employee

Number of 
employee

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 —

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1

12. DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
The loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company includes a loss of approximately HK$9,469,000 (2012: 

approximately HK$14,629,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

14. LOSS PER SHARE
(a) The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following 

data:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company 101,069 47,996

 (b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares
The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 2013 was 

approximately 12,949,446,000 (2012: 12,857,027,100).

2013 2012

Basic loss per share (HK cents) 0.78 0.37

(c) Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for both years as the potential ordinary shares 

on exercise of share options and contingent consideration shares are anti-dilutive.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings, 
plant and 

equipment
Leasehold 

improvements

Furniture, 
fixtures 

and office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Locomotives Vessel Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

The Group

Cost:

As at 1 January 2012 354 2,118 3,988 6,813 6,500 — 19,773

Additions 47 — 114 — — — 161

Disposals — — (182) — — — (182)

Exchange adjustment — — — (1) (1) — (2)

As at 31 December 2012 401 2,118 3,920 6,812 6,499 — 19,750

Additions — — 253 828 — 63,994 65,075

Disposals — (489) (1,128) (344) — — (1,961)

Exchange adjustment 13 2 78 206 204 — 503

As at 31 December 2013 414 1,631 3,123 7,502 6,703 63,994 83,367

Accumulated depreciation:

As at 1 January 2012 12 1,013 1,582 2,485 442 — 5,534

Charge for the year 62 232 739 1,524 583 — 3,140

Eliminated on disposals — — (132) — — — (132)

Exchange adjustment — — 1 3 2 — 6

As at 31 December 2012 74 1,245 2,190 4,012 1,027 — 8,548

Charge for the year 67 232 654 933 594 281 2,761

Eliminated on disposals — (489) (1,112) (344) — — (1,945)

Exchange adjustment 3 2 46 148 41 — 240

As at 31 December 2013 144 990 1,778 4,749 1,662 281 9,604

Carrying amount:

As at 31 December 2013 270 641 1,345 2,753 5,041 63,713 73,763

As at 31 December 2012 327 873 1,730 2,800 5,472 — 11,202

Depreciation charged for the year ended 31 December 2013 was recognised in cost of sales by approximately 

HK$281,000 (2012: HK$Nil) and recognised in administrative expenses by approximately HK$2,480,000 (2012: 

approximately HK$3,140,000).
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group

Contract of 
affreightment

Club 
membership Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:

As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 126,900 1,000 127,900

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

As at 1 January 2012 6,345 — 6,345

Charge for the year 5,076 — 5,076

Impairment loss 27,796 — 27,796

As at 31 December 2012 39,217 — 39,217

Charge for the year 3,854 — 3,854

Impairment loss 6,244 — 6,244

As at 31 December 2013 49,315 — 49,315

Carrying amount:

As at 31 December 2013 77,585 1,000 78,585

As at 31 December 2012 87,683 1,000 88,683

The recoverable amounts of contract of affreightment (“COA”) have been determined from value in use calculations 

based on the free cash flows for five years in future from formally approved budgets covering a five-year period. 

Cash flow beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted average growth rate of 3% 

(2012: 3%), which does not exceed the long-term growth rate for the shipping industry in the PRC. The cash flows 

are discounted using a discount rate of 10.55% (2012: 10,65%). The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect 

specific risks relating to the intangible asset.

During the year, the growing of charter rate in shipping and logistics business in the PRC was slower than the 

trend as observed as at 31 December 2012. This had an adverse impact on the estimated value in use of the 

COA. As the carrying amount of the COA has been reduced to its recoverable amount of approximately 

HK$77,585,000, any adverse change in the key assumptions used to calculate the recoverable amount would 

result in further impairment losses.
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17. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:

As at beginning of year 1,818,354 1,538,481

Additions 71,165 279,159

Exchange adjustment 57,000 714

As at end of year 1,946,519 1,818,354

Construction in progress represents railway construction costs in the PRC. The construction work has been 

suspended since July 2013.

18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 1 1

Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,002,659 895,488

1,002,660 895,489

Less: Impairment loss (378,085) (378,085)

624,575 517,404

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and in substance represent the Company’s 

investments in the subsidiaries in the form of quasi-equity loans.

The directors assessed that only a portion of the amounts due from subsidiaries is expected to be recoverable. 

Consequently, a provision for impairment loss was made.
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary
Country of incorporation/
establishment and operation

Issued and fully paid share 
capital/registered capital

Attributable 
equity interest Principal activities

Directly 
held

Indirectly 
held

Teleroute Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% — Investment holding

Palace View International Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% — Investment holding

Allpride Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% — Investment holding

Colour Sunlight Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% — Investment holding

CSCP Management Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 — 100% Investment holding

Talent Will Administration Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 — 100% Investment holding

Bright Master Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 — 100% Investment holding

Ocean Jade Investments Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 — 100% Investment holding

Gofar Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 — 100% Investment holding

China Railway Logistic Holdings 
Limited (Note a)

Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 — 100% Investment holding

Chengde Zunxiao Railway Limited 
(承德遵小鐵路有限公司) (Note b)

PRC, limited liability 
company

RMB224,000,000 — 62.5% Railway construction 
and operations

Chengde Kuanping Railway Limited 
(承德寬平鐵路有限公司) (Note b)

PRC, limited liability 
company

RMB129,000,000 — 62.5% Railway construction 
and operations

Tangshan Tangcheng Railway 
Transportation Company Limited 
(唐山唐承鐵路運輸有限責任公司) 
(Note b)

PRC, limited liability 
company

RMB205,000,000 — 51% Railway construction 
and operations

Treasure Delight Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 — 100% Investment holding

Chengde Gangtong Railway 
Logistic Company Limited 
(承德港通鐵路物流有限公司)

PRC, limited liability 
company

RMB3,007,224 — 100% Logistic

AELG Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 — 100% Shipping and logistics

Asia Energy Inc. Liberia 1 ordinary share of US$1 — 100% Shipping and logistics

Notes:

(a) A share mortgage was executed in respect of this subsidiary in favour of a connected party as detailed in Note 36(c).

(b) Equity and assets pledges were executed in respect of these subsidiaries in favour of a connected party as detailed in 

Note 36(c).
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected 

the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of net assets of the Group. To give details of other 

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

19. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets in a jointly controlled entity — —

As at beginning of year — 3,214

Share of results of jointly controlled entity (a) — (3,339)

Loan to a jointly controlled entity — 125

As at end of year — —

The Group recognised 50% of the loss of a jointly controlled entity for the year ended 31 December 2013 of 

approximately HK$14,242,000 (2012: loss of approximately HK$17,165,000). The share of loss exceeded the 

Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity as the Group has incurred legal obligations under the shareholders’ 

agreement relating to the formation of the jointly controlled entity to make good such losses. The excess amount 

is accounted for as liabilities due to a jointly controlled entity in Note 27.

Details of the jointly controlled entity is as follows:

Name Form of business structure
Place of incorporation 
and operation Principal activity

Percentage of 
ownership 

interests

Ocean Pro Holdings Limited Limited liability company British Virgin Islands Provide transportation 
services for shipment

50%
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19. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY (CONTINUED)
The summarised financial information of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 399,093 402,685

Current assets 16,157 13,705

Current liabilities (10,261) (7,006)

Non-current liabilities (463,480) (438,066)

Net liabilities (58,491) (28,682)

Included in the above amounts are:

Cash and cash equivalents 5,169 4,378

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payable) (549) (520)

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding other payable and 
provision) (463,480) (438,066)

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Income 80,223 78,371

Expenses (108,707) (112,701)

Loss before tax (28,484) (34,330)

Income tax — —

Loss after tax and total comprehensive income for the year (28,484) (34,330)

Included in the above amounts are:

Depreciation and amortisation (15,954) (15,653)

Interest income 21 39

Interest expense (28,263) (26,214)
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20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost less impairment/share of net assets — —

Loan to an associate 37,000 37,000

Less: Provision for impairment loss (19,975) (18,850)

17,025 18,150

Note: The loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 3% per annum (2012: 3%) and repayable on demand.

Details of the associate is as follows:

Name Form of business structure
Place of incorporation 
and operation Principal activity

Percentage of 
ownership 

interests

Brilliant Success Asia Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong Investment holding 30%

The Group had discontinued recognition of its share of results of the above associate. The amounts of unrecognised 

share of this associate, both for the year and cumulatively, are as follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unrecognised share of (loss)/profit of an associate for the year (338) 1,595

Accumulated unrecognised share of loss of an associate (5,993) (5,655)
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20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 21,788 21,803

Current liabilities (41,763) (40,653)

Net liabilities (19,975) (18,850)

Total revenue — —

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income for the year (1,125) 5,317

Group’s share of (loss)/profit of associate for the year — —

21. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other receivables and prepayments 84,539 57,522 36,106 41,534

Less: Provision for impairment (35,900) (35,900) (35,900) (35,900)

Other receivables and prepayments, net 48,639 21,622 206 5,634

There is no movement in the provision for impairment on other receivables during both of the years.

The Group and the Company recognised impairment loss on other receivables based on the accounting policy 

stated in Note 3(k)(iii).
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22. TRADING SECURITIES

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong listed equity securities — at fair value 36,234 55,723

For investments which have been suspended from trading as at the end of reporting period, the fair value was 

measured with reference to the quoted price of the last dealing date before suspension of trade and other available 

information considered appropriate by the directors. The carrying amounts of these investments are HK$Nil (2012: 

approximately HK$6,405,000).

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The directors consider the 

carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values.

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables

— current and up to 30 days 553 — — —

Construction cost payables 43,524 43,582 — —

Other payables 9,871 5,270 1,933 2,050

53,948 48,852 1,933 2,050
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25. BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities
Bank loans (a) 127,189 61,676
Other borrowings (b) 141,429 —

268,618 61,676

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans (a) 1,123,067 1,212,292

(a) At 31 December 2013, total bank loans were scheduled to be repaid as follows:

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

On demand or within one year 127,189 61,676
More than one year but not exceeding two years 190,784 123,327
More than two years but not exceeding five years 763,096 678,274
After five years 169,187 410,691

1,250,256 1,273,968

Current liabilities (127,189) (61,676)

Non-current liabilities 1,123,067 1,212,292

(i) All bank loans were denominated in Renminbi. The directors estimated that the fair value of the bank 

loans is not significantly different from its carrying amount.

(ii) The amount of bank loans in the original denominated borrowing currency is RMB982,990,000 

equivalent to approximately HK$1,250,256,000 (2012: RMB1,033,000,000 equivalent to approximately 

HK$1,273,968,000). The average effective interest rate for the year is 7.86% (2012: 8.29%) per annum. 

The bank loans were secured by guarantee provided by a connected party in aggregate up to 

RMB1,033,000,000 equivalent to approximately HK$1,313,862,000 (2012: RMB1,033,000,000 equivalent 

to approximately HK$1,273,968,000). In return, the Company agreed to provide a counter-guarantee 

to indemnify this connected party to the extent of the percentage of equity interest held by the Group 

in each of the subsidiaries of up to approximately RMB573,003,000 equivalent to approximately 

HK$728,796,000 (2012: approximately RMB602,155,000 equivalent to approximately HK$742,620,000), 

share mortgage, equity and assets pledges in favour of the connected party as detailed in Note 36(c).

(b) Other borrowings are unsecured in which HK$115,037,000 is repayable within one year and HK$26,392,000 

is repayable on demand. Interest is charged at 6.5% to 18% per annum. Other borrowings of approximately 

HK$116,429,000 are borrowed from certain companies, of which Mr. Zhu, a director of a subsidiary of the 

Company and a beneficiary of certain substantial shareholders of the Company, is a shareholder.
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26. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fair value:

At beginning of the year 10,980 52,892

Change in fair value 17,689 (41,912)

At end of the year 28,669 10,980

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are 

as follows:

2013

HK$’000

Fair value:

At beginning of the year 10,980

Change in fair value 17,689

At end of the year 28,669

Losses recognised in profit or loss relating to financial instruments held 
by the Group at the reporting date 17,689

On 19 May 2010, the Group had completed the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Ocean Jade Investments 

Limited (“Ocean Jade”) from Golden Concord. The acquisition is to be satisfied by the issue of 1,000,000,000 

consideration shares to the vendor, when the net profit after tax of Ocean Jade shall not be less than HK$20 

million for the first 12 months after the start of commercial operation of all 4 vessels in accordance with the 

agreements. In the event that this profit target is not met, the number of consideration shares to be issued shall 

be reduced pro-rata to the actual shortfall.

The Company’s obligation to issue a variable number of shares is accounted for as a liability and carried at fair 

value at the end of each reporting period, with resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

At the date of completion, the fair value of the Company’s shares is HK$0.141 each and based on the directors’ 

best estimate and weighted probability analysis of the future profit of Ocean Jade, the fair value of consideration 

shares expected to be issuable is estimated to be HK$126,900,000.

As at 31 December 2013, only 2 (2012: 2) vessels had started commercial operation, the fair value of contingent 

consideration increased by approximately HK$17,689,000 (2012: decreased by approximately HK$41,912,000) as 

a result of the directors’ re-estimation of the fair value of contingent consideration payable.
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27. AMOUNT DUE TO A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Amount due to a jointly controlled entity

At beginning of the year (13,826) —

Share of results of jointly controlled entity (14,242) (13,826)

Repayment to a jointly controlled entity 29 —

At end of the year (28,039) (13,826)

Amount due to a jointly controlled entity is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable within one year.

28. DEFERRED TAX
No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in the consolidated financial statements as the Group and the 

Company did not have material temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 

carrying amounts as at 31 December 2013 and 2012.

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the consolidated financial statements in respect of tax losses 

available to offset future profits due to the uncertainty of the future profits streams against which the asset can 

be utilised.

At the end of reporting period, the Group and the Company had unused tax losses of approximately HK$297,047,000 

(2012: approximately HK$206,967,000) and approximately HK$13,631,000 (2012: approximately HK$10,252,000) 

respectively, available for offset against future profits, that can be carried forwarded indefinitely.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL
 Authorised, issued and fully paid share capital

Number of shares Amount

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each:

At beginning and end of the year 120,000,000,000 120,000,000,000 1,200,000 1,200,000

Preference shares class A of HK$0.01 each:

At beginning and end of the year 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 100,000 100,000

Preference shares class B of HK$0.01 each:

At beginning and end of the year 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 100,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each:

At beginning of the year 12,857,027,100 12,857,027,100 128,570 128,570

Shares issued under placing shares scheme 553,000,000 — 5,530 —

At the end of the year 13,410,027,100 12,857,027,100 134,100 128,570

The preference shares class A and B do not carry a right to vote. On liquidation of the Company, the preference 

shareholders would participate only to the extent of the issue value (aggregate of par value and the premium 

paid) of the shares adjusted for any dividends in arrears. The preference shares shall rank for return of capital 

on liquidation in priority to all other shares in the capital of the Company for the time being in issue.

 Preference Shares Class A
The term of the preference shares class A is 3 years and the holders of the preference shares shall be entitled 

to a fixed cumulative preferential dividend at the rate of 3% per annum on the issue value. The holders of the 

preference shares may not request the redemption of the preference shares held by them. The Company shall 

redeem all the preference shares outstanding on the third anniversary of the date of issue of the issue value and 

any dividends in arrears. The preference shareholders can convert the preference shares into ordinary shares of 

the Company during the 3-year term using the following formula:

Number of preference shares
= Number of ordinary shares to be issued

Adjusting factor
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
 Authorised, issued and fully paid share capital (Continued)

 Preference Shares Class A (Continued)
Adjusting factor is calculated as the higher of (i) 90% of the average of the closing price of the Company’s ordinary 

shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days up to and including the conversion date (or, if such day 

is not a trading day, the last trading day before the conversion day); and (ii) HK$0.50, provided that if trading in 

the ordinary shares is suspended on any day during such period, the average of the closing prices shall be 

calculated by reference to the latest five consecutive trading days on which the trading in the ordinary shares is 

not suspended up to and including the conversion date but subject to a minimum value equivalent to the then 

nominal value of an ordinary share.

 Preference Shares Class B
The term of the preference shares class B is 3 years and the holders of the preference shares shall be entitled 

to a fixed cumulative preferential dividend at the rate of 3% per annum on the issue value. The holders of the 

preference shares may not request the redemption of the preference shares held by them. The Company shall 

redeem all the preference shares outstanding on the third anniversary of the date of issue of the issue value and 

any dividends in arrears. The preference shareholders can convert the preference shares into ordinary shares of 

the Company during the 3-year term at a ratio of HK$0.76 subject to an adjusting factor. The adjusting factor is 

calculated as follows:

Beginning on the date of 

issue and ending on 

(and including) the 

first anniversary of the 

date of issue

HK$0.76

Beginning from the day 

after the first 

anniversary of the date 

of issue and ending 

on (and including) the 

third anniversary of the 

date of issue

The higher of (i) 90% of the average of the closing prices on the Stock Exchange 

for one ordinary share for the five trading days up to and including the 

conversion date; and (ii) HK$0.50, provided that if trading of the ordinary shares 

is suspended on any date during such period, the average of the closing prices 

shall be calculated by reference to the latest five consecutive trading days on 

which the trading of the ordinary shares is not suspended up to and including 

the conversion date.

During the year and as at 31 December 2012 and 2013, no preference shares have been issued.

On 1 November 2013, a total of 553,000,000 ordinary shares were placed and issued at share price of HK$0.072 

per share which resulted in a net proceeds of approximately HK$38,503,000 after issue expenses of approximately 

HK$1,313,000.
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30. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The Group has three significant subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (“NCI”), namely, Kuanping 

Company, Zunxiao Company and Tangcheng Company i.e. the Railway Companies. The other details of each of 

the Railway Companies, principally engaged in railway construction and operations, are set out in Note 18. For 

the purpose of presentation of their summarised financial information, the directors consider it would be more 

meaningful and appropriate to aggregate their financial information given the facts that they are engaged in the 

construction and operations of the Zunxiao Railway comprising three parts of rail track which are undertaken by 

the Railway Companies and therefore share similar risk and return.

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 December

Revenue — —

Loss for the year (66,335) (15,672)

Total comprehensive income (45,946) (15,846)

Loss allocated to NCI (27,777) (6,766)

Dividends paid to NCI — —

For the year ended 31 December

Cash flows from operating activities (71,687) (111,477)

Cash flows from investing activities (17,909) (209,683)

Cash flows from financing activities 51,049 264,364

Net cash outflows (38,547) (56,796)

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December

Current assets 153,751 127,990

Non-current assets 2,045,823 1,918,326

Current liabilities (490,455) (202,224)

Non-current liabilities (1,123,067) (1,212,292)

Net assets 586,052 631,800

Accumulated non-controlling interests (213,567) (234,118)



79

Annual Report 2013

線條長度請跟RunHead拉長或縮短
行
Table時

，
請
收
Leading做

12pt

31. SHARE OPTIONS
 2002 Share Option Scheme

On 27 May 2002, a share option scheme (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The 

purpose of the 2002 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected participants as 

incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Group. The participants include (i) any eligible employee; (ii) 

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group 

holds any interest (“Invested Entity”); (iii) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any person or 

entity that provides research, development or other technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) 

any shareholder or any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vi) any company wholly owned by any 

participant. The 2002 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period commencing on 27 May 2002 and 

expiring at the close of business on the business day preceding the tenth anniversary.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2002 Share 

Option Scheme and any other scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share 

capital of the Company as at the date on which the 2002 Share Option Scheme was adopted, without prior approval 

from the Company’s shareholders. The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the option 

granted and to be granted to each participant in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant of 

options shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

The subscription price will be determined by the directors, which shall not be less than the higher of the closing 

price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of grant of options or 

the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five 

days immediately preceding the date of grant of options.

The 2002 Share Option Scheme was terminated with the passing of an ordinary resolution at the extraordinary 

general meeting of the Company held on 20 August 2008.

(a) The terms and conditions of the options granted that were outstanding at the reporting date:

Number of options (’000)

Options granted to employees 2013 2012 Contractual life of options

On 26 May 2005 700 700 10 years

On 3 August 2005 — 500 10 years

700 1,200

All the above options outstanding at 31 December 2012 and 2013 have met the vesting condition and are 

wholly exercisable.
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31. SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)
 2002 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

2013 2012

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

’000 HK$ ’000 HK$

Outstanding at the beginning 
of the year 1,200 0.6892 1,200 0.6892

Forfeited during the year (500) 0.6880 — —

Outstanding at the end of the year 700 0.6900 1,200 0.6892

Outstanding and exercisable 
at the end of the year 700 0.6900 1,200 0.6892

The options outstanding under the 2002 Share Option Scheme at 31 December 2013 had an exercise price 

of HK$0.69 (2012: between HK$0.688 and HK$0.69) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 

1.39 years (2012: 2.48 years).

 2008 Share Option Scheme
On 20 August 2008, a new share option scheme (the “2008 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. 

The purpose of the 2008 Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate talented participants to strive for 

future developments and expansion of the Group. The participants are as follows:

(i) any full-time employee and director (including non-executive director and independent non-executive 

director) of the Group; and any part time employee with weekly working hours of ten hours and above of 

the Group (collectively “Employee”);

(ii) any advisor or consultant to the Group; any provider of goods and/or services to the Group; or any other 

person who, at the sole determination of the Board, has contributed to the Group (the assessment criteria 

of which are (a) such person’s contribution to the development and performance of the Group; (b) the quality 

of work performed by such person for the Group; and (c) the initiative and commitment of such person in 

performing his or her duties; and (d) the length of service or contribution of such person to the Group) 

(collectively “Business Associate”); and

(iii) the trustee of any trust (whether family, discretionary or otherwise) whose beneficiaries or objects include 

any Employee or Business Associate of the Group.
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31. SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)
 2008 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2008 Share 

Option Scheme and any other scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share 

capital of the Company as at the date on which the 2008 Share Option Scheme was adopted, without prior approval 

from the Company’s shareholders. The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the 

options granted and to be granted to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares 

in issue.

The subscription price will be determined by the directors, which shall not be less than the higher of (i) the closing 

price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of grant of options; (ii) 

the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five 

days immediately preceding the date of grant of options; or (iii) the nominal value of an ordinary share.

On 21 April 2011, 313,200,000 share options carrying the rights to subscribe for a total of 313,200,000 ordinary 

shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company were granted to 51 individuals under the 2008 Share Option Scheme 

and as refreshed on 3 June 2010. 312,200,000 share options granted were accepted by the grantees and 1,000,000 

share options were lapsed due to non-acceptance by the grantee within the prescribed time limit. The contractual 

life of options is 10 years.

The fair value of the share options was determined using a binomial option pricing model. Where relevant, the 

expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of 

non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations. Expected volatility was based on the 

historical share price volatility over the past three years.

The following information is relevant in the determination of the fair value of options granted during the year ended 

31 December 2011 under the 2008 Share Option Scheme operated by the Group.

Grant date share price HK$0.168

Exercise price HK$0.168

Risk-free rate 2.67%

Expected life 10 years

Expected volatility 101.43%

Expected dividend yield 0%

The weighted average fair value of each option granted was HK$0.112.
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31. SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)
 2008 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The terms and conditions of the options granted that were outstanding at 31 December 2013 and 2012:

2013 2012

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

’000 HK$ ’000 HK$

Outstanding at the beginning 
of the year 273,000 0.1680 294,200 0.1680

Forfeited during the year (22,300) 0.1680 (21,200) 0.1680

Outstanding at the end of the year 250,700 0.1680 273,000 0.1680

Exercisable at the end of the year 250,700 196,140

Note:

(i) up to 40% of the total number of options will be vested from the date of grant of the options;

(ii) an additional 30% of the total number of options will be vested upon the first anniversary of the date of grant of the options; 

and

(iii) the remaining 30% of the total number of options will be vested upon the second anniversary of the date of grant of the 

options.

The option outstanding under the 2008 Share Option Scheme at 31 December 2013 had an exercise price of 

HK$0.168 (2012: HK$0.168) and an average remaining contractual life of 7.30 years (2012: 8.30 years).
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32. RESERVES
 The Company

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

Share option 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 31)

As at 1 January 2012 1,268,576 4,190 28,556 (835,493) 465,829

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — (10,767) (10,767)

Recognition of share option expenses — — 7,617 — 7,617

Forfeiture of share options — — (1,249) 1,249 —

As at 31 December 2012 1,268,576 4,190 34,924 (845,011) 462,679

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — (5,682) (5,682)

Shares issued under share placing scheme 32,973 — — — 32,973

Recognition of share option expenses — — 1,583 — 1,583

Forfeiture of share options — — (4,645) 4,645 —

As at 31 December 2013 1,301,549 4,190 31,862 (846,048) 491,553

The Company did not have any reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2013 and 

2012. The Company’s share premium may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

 (a) Share premium
The application of the share premium is governed by section 48B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

(b) Other reserves are dealt with in accordance with the relevant accounting policies set out in Note 3.
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33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised and contracted for in respect of construction of railway:
— Zunxiao Company 158,288 157,993
— Kuanping Company 478 4,440
— Tangcheng Company 184,138 183,290

342,904 345,723

These commitments were entered into by three PRC non-wholly owned subsidiaries. The Group’s effective interests 

in Zunxiao Company, Kuanping Company, and Tangcheng Company are 62.50%, 62.50% and 51.00% respectively 

as at 31 December 2012 and 2013.

34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
 Lessee

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases charged 
as expenses in the year 4,462 4,224

Vessels lease payments under operating leases charged as expenses 
in the year 15,305 —

At the end of reporting period, the Group had outstanding minimum commitments under non-cancellable operating 

leases, which fall due as follows:

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 6,345 1,958
In the second to fifth years inclusive 3,899 —

10,244 1,958

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office premises, staff quarters 

and vessel. The leases typically run for lease term of six months to three years, with an option to renew the lease 

at which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the lease includes contingent rentals. The sub-lease vessel 

income recognised during the year ended 31 December 2013 was approximately HK$17,083,000 (2012: HK$Nil), 

and the sub-lease vessel typically run for lease term of one to two months.
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34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
 Lessor

The Group leases out its vessel under operating lease, and vessel lease receipts recognised as income during 

the year ended 31 December 2013 was approximately HK$2,001,000 (2012: HK$Nil), and at the end of the reporting 

period, there is no any future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable leases as lease income relate to 

chartered-out vessel is on an index-linked basis. The leases typically run for lease term of six months to one year

35. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT — THE COMPANY
The Company has executed a counter-guarantee to indemnify Golden Concord Holdings Limited (“Golden 

Concord”) up to approximately HK$728,796,000 (2012: approximately HK$742,620,000) (excluding all related 

accrued interest, costs and expenses incurred, if any), in which Golden Concord has agreed to execute guarantees 

to a financial institution in respect of bank loans granted to certain non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company 

in the PRC (Note 25). Under the counter-guarantee, the Company would be liable to pay Golden Concord in the 

event of any default. The counter-guarantee was issued by the Company at HK$Nil consideration. The transaction 

was not at arm’s length, and it is not possible to measure reliably the fair value of this transaction in accordance 

with HKAS 39 had they been at arm’s length. Accordingly, the guarantee has not been accounted for as financial 

liabilities and measured at fair value.

As at the end of reporting period, no provision for the Company’s obligation under the guarantee contract has 

been made as the directors do not consider it to be probable that a claim will be made against the Company 

under the counter-guarantee issued.

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been 

eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

(a) The amounts due to minority equity owners of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 

demand.

(b) Members of key management during the year comprised the directors only whose remuneration is set out 

in Note 11.

(c) As disclosed in Note 35, the Company had provided a counter-guarantee to Golden Concord, a company 

incorporated in Hong Kong which is beneficially owned by Mr. Zhu, a director of a subsidiary of the Company 

and a beneficiary of certain substantial shareholders of the Company. This constitutes a connected 

transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.

(d) Loan interest income of HK$1,110,000 (2012: HK$1,110,000) were to an associate of the Group as disclosed 

in Note 20.

(e) Interest expenses on other borrowings of approximately HK$635,000 (2012: HK$Nil) were charged by the 

companies as disclosed in Note 25(b).
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37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objectives of managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 

in order to provide returns for equity owners and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the 

higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security 

afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustment to the capital structure in light of changes in economic 

conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. This 

ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings including 

borrowings and other payables, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position less cash and bank 

balances. Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus 

net debt.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2012, was to maintain 

a gearing ratio of not more than 100%.

The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities 359,908 133,375

Non-current liabilities 1,151,736 1,223,272

Total liabilities 1,511,644 1,356,647

Less: Cash and bank balances (13,152) (113,279)

Net debt 1,498,492 1,243,368

Total equity 791,235 859,600

Total capital 2,289,727 2,102,968

Gearing ratio 65% 59%
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and equity price risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s 

business.

The main risks arising from the Groups’ financial instruments in the normal course of the Group’s business are 

credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and equity price risk arising from movements in its own 

equity share price and the fair value changes of its trading securities. The Group does not consider it necessary 

to use derivative financial instruments to hedge these risk exposures.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and practices described below:

 (a) Credit risk
The Group has policies in place to ensure that the sales of goods and services are made to customers 

with appropriate credit history and the Group performs credit evaluation of its customers. The Group also 

has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any financial institution.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 

The default risk of the industry in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but to a 

lesser extent. At 31 December 2013 and 2012, since the Group does not have any trade receivable, the 

Group has no concentration of credit risk.

 (b) Liquidity risk
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, including the 

short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject 

to approval by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. 

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, 

to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long 

term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of reporting period of the Group’s 

and the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial liabilities, which are based on 

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if 

floating, based on rates current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the Group and the 

Company can be required to pay:



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2013

88

Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited

線條長度請跟RunHead拉長或縮短

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
 (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

  The Group

2013
Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 
1 year 
or on 

demand

More than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

More than 
2 years 
but less 

than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and other payables 53,948 53,948 53,948 — — —

Amounts due to a jointly 
controlled entity 28,039 28,039 28,039 — — —

Amounts due to minority 
equity owners of 
subsidiaries 9,303 9,303 9,303 — — —

Bank loans and other 
borrowings 1,391,685 1,827,183 366,888 354,861 922,949 182,485

1,482,975 1,918,473 458,178 354,861 922,949 182,485

2012
Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 
1 year 
or on 

demand

More than 
1 year but 

less than 
2 years

More than 
2 years 
but less 

than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and other payables 48,852 48,852 48,852 — — —

Amounts due to a jointly 
controlled entity 13,826 13,826 13,826 — — —

Amounts due to minority 
equity owners of 
subsidiaries 9,021 9,021 9,021 — — —

Bank loans 1,273,968 1,722,874 161,810 218,613 886,585 455,866

1,345,667 1,794,573 233,509 218,613 886,585 455,866
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
 (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

  The Company

2013
Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 
1 year or on 

demand
More than 

1 year

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables 1,933 1,933 1,933 —

Financial guarantee issued

Maximum amount guaranteed — 728,796 728,796 —

2012
Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 
1 year or on 

demand
More than 

1 year

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and other payables 2,050 2,050 2,050 —

Financial guarantee issued

Maximum amount guaranteed — 742,620 742,620 —

As shown in the above analysis, bank loans and other financial liabilities of the Group amounting to 

approximately HK$458,178,000 are expected to be repaid within the next twelve months from 31 December 

2013. The short-term liquidity risk inherent in this contractual maturity date has been addressed in Note 

3(b).
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
 (c) Interest rate risk

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting 

period.

The Group

2013 2012

Effective 
interest rate 

(%) HK$’000

Effective 
interest rate 

(%) HK$’000

Fixed rate borrowings

Other borrowings 6.5% to 18% 141,429 — —

Floating rate borrowings

Bank loans 7.86% 1,250,256
7.86% to 

8.46% 1,273,968

Total net borrowings 1,391,685 1,273,968

Net fixed rate borrowings as a percentage of 
total net borrowings 10% 0%

  Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2013, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, 

with all other variables held constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s loss for the year and accumulated 

losses by approximately HK$4,688,000.

As 31 December 2012, since all bank loans were obtained for the purpose of financing the railway 

construction, all related interest expenses are capitalised in construction in progress. Accordingly, any 

change in interest rates, would not affect the Group’s loss for the year and accumulated losses.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred 

at the end of reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the borrowings 

in existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment 

of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the next annual reporting date. The 

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
 (d) Currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in the functional 

currency of the operations to which the transactions relate and did not have significant exposure to risk 

resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional currency of the entity taking out the loan. 

Given this, management does not expect that there will be any significant currency risk associated with the 

Group’s borrowings.

 (e) Equity price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from changes in the Company’s own share price to the 

extent that the Company’s own equity instruments underlie the fair values of the contingent consideration 

payable of the Group and the share prices of the Group’s trading securities at the end of reporting period.

  Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s loss for the year and other components 

of consolidated equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the Company’s own share price for 

the fair value of the contingent consideration payable and the share prices of the Group’s trading securities 

at the end of reporting period. A positive number below indicates an increase in loss for the year and 

accumulated losses and a negative number below indicates a decrease in loss for the year and accumulated 

losses where the relevant equity prices increased by 10%. Had the relevant equity prices been 10% lower, 

there would be an equal and opposite effect on the loss for the year and accumulated losses.

2013 2012

The Group and the Company

Increase in 
the relevant 
risk variable

Effect on 
loss for the 

year and 
accumulated 

losses

Effect on 
other 

components 
of equity

Increase in 
the relevant 
risk variable

Effect on 
loss for the 

year and 
accumulated 

losses

Effect on 
other 

components 
of equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

— Company’s own share price 10% 2.867 — 10% 1,098 —

— financial assets at fair value through 
  profit or loss 10% (3,623) — 10% (5,572) —

10% (756) — 10% (4,474) —

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible change in the relevant 

risk variables had occurred at the end of reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to equity 

price risk in existence at that date. It is also assumed that the fair value of the Group’s equity would change 

in accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant risk variables and that all other variables remain 

constant. The stated change represents management’s assessment of reasonably possible change in the 

relevant risk variable over the period until the next annual reporting date.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
 (f) Fair values estimation

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and based on relevant market information and 

information about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties 

and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in 

assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

39.  SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY 
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as recognised at 31 December 2013 

and 2012 may be categorised as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Fair value through profit or loss 36,234 55,723

Loans and receivables (including cash and bank balances) 77,884 151,415

Financial liabilities

Fair value through profit or loss

— Contingent consideration payable 28,669 10,980

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,482,975 1,345,667

HKFRS 7 requires disclosure for financial instruments that are carried at fair value by level of the following fair 

value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1 — Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted price included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, 

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The Group’s trading securities and contingent consideration payable are measured at fair value. During the year 

ended 31 December 2012, trading securities of approximately HK$6,405,000 was transferred from Level 1 to Level 

2. There were no transfers of instruments from Level 1 to Level 3 and between Level 2 and Level 3 during both 

years, and no transfers of instruments from level 1 to level 2 in the year ended 31 December 2013.
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39.  SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY 
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

At 31 December 2013 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets

Trading securities 36,234 — — 36,234

Liabilities

Contingent consideration payable — — 28,669 28,669

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

At 31 December 2012 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets

Trading securities 49,318 6,405 — 55,723

Liabilities

Contingent consideration payable — — 10,980 10,980

40. EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING PERIOD
On 14 February, 2014, the Group through a wholly-owned subsidiary entered into three disposal agreements with 

a minority shareholder of Kuanping Company and Zunxiao Company for the disposal of the Group’s majority equity 

interests in Kuanping Company and Zunxiao Company and the entire equity interest in Tangcheng Company (the 

“Disposal”) at the aggregate cash consideration of RMB433,270,000 which is above the aggregate net assets 

value of the three subsidiaries attributable to the Group. The details of the Disposal are set out in the Company’s 

announcement dated 28 February 2014. The completion of the Disposal is subject to fulfilment of certain conditions 

as stipulated in the disposal agreements, including the obtaining by the Company of the independent shareholders’ 

approval at the extraordinary general meeting. Upon completion of the Disposal, the Group will hold the remaining 

9.48% equity interest in each of Kuanping Company and Zunxiao Company, which will be classified as available-

for-sale investments.
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2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover

Continuing operations 19,084 — — — —

Discontinued operations — — 49,472 130,101 111,687

19,084 — 49,472 130,101 111,687

Loss/(profit) before income tax:

Continuing operations (128,846) (54,762) (142,928) (47,382) (1,544)

Discontinued operations — — (1,291) (60,180) 2,775

(128,846) (54,762) (144,219) (107,562) 1,231

Income tax credit/(expense) — — — 731 (7,309)

Loss for the year (128,846) (54,762) (144,219)  (106,831)  (6,078)

Non-controlling interests (27,777) (6,766) (6,522)  (4,806)  (2,153)

Loss attributable to owners of the Company (101,069) (47,996) (137,697)  (102,025)  (3,925)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets 2,302,879 2,216,247 2,009,225  2,301,703  1,503,150 

Total liabilities (1,511,644) (1,356,647) (1,102,306)  (1,283,743)  (734,707)

791,235 859,600 906,919  1,017,960  768,443 

Equity attribute to owners of the Company 577,668 625,482 665,839  782,059  538,626 

Non-controlling interests 213,567 234,118 241,080  235,901  229,817 

791,235 859,600 906,919  1,017,960  768,443 

Note: The financial information for the years ended 31 December 2009 to 2010 had been restated for the operations discontinued in 

2011.
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